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          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  If folks

          3  could just take their seats, we are just about to

          4  commence, and we will commence. We will commence.

          5                 Good afternoon.  I'm Councilman Jim

          6  Gennaro, Chairman of the City Council's Committee on

          7  Environmental Protection.  Welcome to today's

          8  hearing on Jamaica Bay's disappearing marshes and

          9  the role of nitrogen and other factors on that loss.

         10                 Back in 2001, the State Department of

         11  Environmental Conservation published a landmark

         12  study that analyzed historical and recent aerial

         13  photographs and found that, as many had long

         14  suspected, Jamaica Bay's marshes were disappearing.

         15  To make matters worse, this disappearance was both

         16  rapid and accelerating over time.

         17                 In overall acreage, the DEC study

         18  found that about half of the Bay's tidal marshes had

         19  been lost between the years 1924 and 1999.  That's

         20  about half between 1924 and 1999.

         21                 In terms of accelerating, between

         22  1924 and 1974, in that 50-year period, about ten

         23  acres of marshes were lost per year. That's if you

         24  take out the acres lost from direct causes, such as

         25  dredging and filling.
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          2                 Between 1974 and 1994, the last 20

          3  years of that period, that number increased to about

          4  26 acres per year.  So it was about ten acres per

          5  year.  Then it accelerated to about 26 acres per

          6  year.

          7                 Between 1994 and 1999, the rate of

          8  disappearance nearly doubled again to about 44 acres

          9  per year.  The DEC predicted that if those rates

         10  continued all of the Bay's island marshes could be

         11  gone as early as 2024.

         12                 Now a new study, and I have it with

         13  me.  A new study produced by the Jamaica Bay

         14  Watershed Protection Plan Advisory Committee,

         15  established by Local Law 71 of 2005, and the

         16  National Park Service  --  and I'm happy the

         17  National Park Service is in attendance today  --

         18  reaches even more alarming conclusions, this study

         19  does, about marsh loss.  Their study confirms the

         20  DEC's conclusions about marsh loss especially that

         21  there was a significant acceleration of loss

         22  starting in the 1990's.  They find that as the

         23  Gateway and the Watershed Advisory Committee, they

         24  found  --  I lost my place.  They found that marsh

         25  loss has dramatically increased again between 2003
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          2  and 2005, such that four of the five marshes that

          3  were observed lost 30 percent of their area in just

          4  two years.  Four of the five that were looked at

          5  lost 30 percent of their area in just two years.

          6  Extrapolating to the entire Bay, these rates would

          7  doom Jamaica Bay's marshes by 2012, a mere five

          8  years from now, a very sobering prospect.

          9                 This Committee, as many people know,

         10  has taken a keen interest in Jamaica Bay and its

         11  environs and for good reason. The Bay is incredibly

         12  valuable as a natural area that cleans the water and

         13  mitigates the impacts of storms on the land, has

         14  habitat for a huge variety of animals, particularly

         15  birds, for which it is internationally known, as a

         16  resource to the millions of New Yorkers who can

         17  access it by bus and subway, the only such National

         18  Park in existence for which that claim can be made

         19  and for many other purposes.

         20                 Our interest in this magnificent

         21  resource has led us to hold a number of hearings on

         22  Jamaica Bay, which resulted in, among other things,

         23  the aforementioned Local Law 71, which the Mayor

         24  signed back in 2005.  That law, among other things,

         25  calls upon the City to "restore and maintain the
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          2  water quality and ecological integrity of Jamaica

          3  Bay".  The DEP is well on its way to completing that

          4  plan, which is due out in October of this year, and

          5  we look forward to working with them to ensure that

          6  the plan succeeds in achieving the goal laid out for

          7  in the law and seeing to its implementation.

          8                 As many people know, I have some

          9  issues with the way this law has been carried out

         10  with regard to involving the Advisory Committee and

         11  the way that the law originally intended, and I'll

         12  get to that when we bring DEP up to testify, but I

         13  know that DEP loves the Bay and so I'll be nice.

         14                 Never the less, the results of this

         15  new study are so startling and unsettling that we

         16  felt that it was necessary to have a mid- term

         17  oversight hearing to look into the matter of Jamaica

         18  Bay's vanishing marshes, and to talk, in particular,

         19  about the DEP's position on the potential for

         20  increased nitrogen controls as a tool to protect

         21  those marshes.  I'll say that again.  In particular,

         22  about the DEP's position  --  That's what we are

         23  looking for  --  DEP's position on the potential for

         24  increased nitrogen control as a tool to protect

         25  those marshes.
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          2                 We'll also be hearing from a number

          3  of other parties including environmental advocates,

          4  members of the Advisory Committee, and many other

          5  folks, to get their perspective on this important

          6  issue.

          7                 I want to thank everybody for being

          8  today.  We're happy and pleased to be joined by

          9  Committee members Council Member Vallone, Council

         10  Member Mark- Viverito, Council Member Eugene,

         11  Council Member Ignizio from Staten Island.  They are

         12  valued members of the Committee, and we look forward

         13  to their participation in this hearing.

         14                 Also, I want to thank Dan Avery, the

         15  Policy Analyst to the Committee, who has long served

         16  this Committee, Carmen Cognetta who is sort of

         17  sitting in with us today as kind of acting counsel

         18  for the Committee.  Many folks know that Donna

         19  DeCostanzo went on to work for the EPA.

         20                 I also want to  --  pardon.  Oh,

         21  NRDC.  She used to work for EPA, then she came to

         22  work for us, and now she's with NRDC, and so I would

         23  certainly wish the best for her in her new job.

         24                 I also want to thank my own, recently

         25  appointed, chief of staff, Jeff Leb (phonetic), who
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          2  is here and participated in getting this hearing

          3  going.

          4                 With that said, I'd like to call the

          5  first witness, the Department of Environmental

          6  Protection, to the witness table, and we can

          7  commence.

          8                 Hi, Angela.  Well Angela, it's a

          9  pleasure to have you here.  That's Angela Licata.

         10  I'm happy and pleased to have your here.  As I

         11  mentioned in my opening statement, I certainly want

         12  to hear your position on nitrogen.  That is the DEP

         13  institutional position as well as some of the other

         14  items that were put forward by the Advisory

         15  Committee in their response to your March draft

         16  plan.

         17                 We might as well just get it out now,

         18  not withstanding the draft plan that was put out on

         19  March 1st.  All the work that went into that was

         20  certainly recognized by the Advisory Committee, but

         21  they in their analysis of that plan and the

         22  statement and the comments that they've made which

         23  were due on June 1st, and they met their deadline

         24  for that, they believe that the submission of March

         25  1st didn't include all of the elements that one
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          2  would find in a plan.  So they did the best they

          3  could with the deliverable that they received, and

          4  tried to put their own value added on that, and they

          5  did that.  So it's my hope that we could speak to

          6  that a little bit, and also to find out how we can

          7  weave the Advisory Committee sort of back into the

          8  process and sort of make up for the fact that they

          9  didn't have a full draft plan at their disposal.  So

         10  I'd be curious about your views on that, but I thank

         11  you for your hard work on the Bay.  I thank you for

         12  your love of the Bay.  I thank you for all of the

         13  staff work that has gone into a lot of effort.  Even

         14  before there was a Local Law 71, you guys were

         15  working hard on the Bay, and we certainly recognize

         16  and appreciate that.

         17                 So with that said, we're looking

         18  forward to your good testimony, and we're grateful

         19  to have you here today.  We don't technically have a

         20  Counsel to the Committee up here so we are not going

         21  to swear the witnesses, and so you can just be at

         22  ease I guess, as I always try to make people feel

         23  when they are testifying before my Committee.

         24                 So, Angela, a pleasure to have you.

         25  Do I have your statement?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: You

          3  should.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  I've got

          5  it right here. Thank you.  Thank you, Angela.

          6  Please just state your name for the record and begin

          7  your testimony.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: I am

          9  Angela Licata, Deputy Commissioner of the Department

         10  of Environmental Protection. Good afternoon members

         11  of the Committee, and thank you so much on behalf of

         12  Commissioner Emily Lloyd for the opportunity to

         13  testify before you today.

         14                 I would like to begin the testimony

         15  with some background on the wetland loss as the

         16  Department sees it based on the information that is

         17  available, and then I will work my way into

         18  responding more directly to your comments regarding

         19  the status of the Jamaica Bay Watershed Protection

         20  Plan and how we hope to involve the Advisory

         21  Committee into the final plan.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Great.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: In recent

         24  years, scientists, researchers and governmental

         25  agencies have tried to identify the "smoking gun"
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          2  behind the accelerated rate of loss of the interior

          3  salt marsh islands in Jamaica Bay and in marshlands

          4  around the world.  Unfortunately, to date,

          5  scientific research and data have not clearly

          6  identified the cause, or causes, of wetlands loss.

          7  Among the possible factors for wetlands loss

          8  identified by the scientific community are long-

          9  term natural processes such as erosion, sediment

         10  deprivation, climate change, local subsidence

         11  factors and, in particular in Jamaica Bay, the

         12  extension of the Rockaway Spit decreasing the

         13  circulation and tidal mixing of Bay waters.

         14                 In addition, human development and

         15  related activities have been identified as possible

         16  factors including land filling, dredging and the

         17  construction of residential, commercial, industrial

         18  and transportation infrastructure in and along the

         19  Bay.

         20                 A little background regarding

         21  eutrophication, which is the presence of low levels

         22  of dissolved oxygen, which can be caused by high

         23  levels of nutrients such as nitrogen. Eutrophication

         24  has been posited as a factor affecting interior

         25  wetlands loss.  It clearly creates adverse impacts
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          2  on aquatic health, such as stimulating algal blooms

          3  that increase biological oxygen demand, reducing

          4  dissolved oxygen levels, lowering ecological

          5  function in limited areas, as well as decreasing the

          6  aesthetic qualities of Jamaica Bay.  Nutrients,

          7  primarily nitrogen from the City's wastewater

          8  treatment plants, are a major contributing source of

          9  eutrophication in Jamaica Bay.  In response, DEP is

         10  implementing nitrogen reduction measures at various

         11  wastewater treatment plants, including the plants

         12  that discharge into Jamaica Bay.

         13                 To date, DEP has invested about $30

         14  million dollars to decrease nitrogen discharges and

         15  improve the ecological health in Jamaica Bay.  In

         16  addition, another $168 million is currently

         17  allocated for continuing work at the 26th Ward plant

         18  of which about $50 million is associated with

         19  improving the ability of the plant to remove

         20  nitrogen from wastewater.

         21                 The Jamaica plant is also currently

         22  under renovation and another approximately $9

         23  million dollars of that renovation is dedicated to

         24  ensure that the plant operations are compatible with

         25  any future plant upgrades related to nitrogen
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          2  removal.  So that stage has been set.

          3                 In addition to capital construction

          4  targeting nitrogen reduction, DEP also limited its

          5  sludge de- watering operations at the 26th Ward

          6  plant.  As a result, the overall nitrogen discharges

          7  into Jamaica Bay have declined 28 percent over mid-

          8  1990 levels.

          9                 Nitrogen discharges from our Jamaica

         10  Bay plants are currently lower than they were at the

         11  time the federal government ordered DEP to end ocean

         12  disposal of sludge and construct de watering plants

         13  in New York City.

         14                 This decline in nitrogen discharges

         15  between 1995 and 2005 coincides with the accelerated

         16  loss of interior wetlands that was also experienced.

         17                 The DEP Harbor Survey monitoring data

         18  within this time period indicate that, overall, DO

         19  concentrations, which is important for the overall

         20  water quality and ecological integrity of the Bay

         21  and can be limited by eutrophication, have either

         22  stayed the same or improved slightly, and the

         23  locations with declining DO concentrations were

         24  still well above the DO standard.

         25                 With no smoking gun that clearly
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          2  identifies the reason for marshland loss, the

          3  approach for reversing the trend of accelerated

          4  marsh island loss must be comprehensive and multi

          5  faceted yet flexible enough to be modified based on

          6  new science or on new information that comes out of

          7  an evaluation of our own efforts.

          8                 The Jamaica Bay Watershed Protection

          9  Plan, due to the City Council on October 1st, 2007,

         10  will describe such an approach and recommend

         11  specific water quality, ecological restoration, and

         12  implementation and coordination strategies to

         13  reverse the decline of Jamaica Bay's salt marsh

         14  islands.  I would like to take this opportunity to

         15  thank the members of the Advisory Committee for

         16  their contributions to this effort.

         17                 Continuing with the discussion of

         18  nitrogen, DEP plans to pursue additional nitrogen

         19  treatment at two of the plants in Jamaica Bay.  DEP

         20  relies extensively on calibrated models to make

         21  water quality predictions and in this case, the

         22  nitrogen reductions are not considered to

         23  appreciably improve the DO compliance in the open

         24  waters of Jamaica Bay.

         25                 However, DEP recognizes that the Bay
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          2  is an ecological system which depends on the balance

          3  of both manmade and natural conditions.  Therefore,

          4  reducing nitrogen levels in plant effluent even

          5  further would decrease eutrophication while

          6  continuing to provide the Bay with its primary water

          7  inputs essential for the circulation and flushing of

          8  its open waters.  DEP believes that some additional

          9  retrofits to existing facilities may be possible and

         10  cost effective and is considering the following as

         11  part of the Jamaica Bay Watershed Protection Plan

         12  development process.

         13                 One of the most persistent water

         14  quality hot spots in Jamaica Bay is Grassy Bay, a

         15  large borrow pit that was created by sand mining

         16  operations.  As part of the comprehensive plan for

         17  achieving water quality standards in Jamaica Bay,

         18  DEP proposed the filling of Grassy Bay, in addition

         19  to other measures in order to improve the DO levels

         20  in this unnaturally deep, poorly circulated area of

         21  the Bay.  This proposal is very expensive and would

         22  take a very long time to accomplish.  The other

         23  difficulty with this proposal is that it would

         24  result in very localized improvements and wouldn't

         25  be expected to result in general benefits around the
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          2  Bay.

          3                 Over the past year, as work on the

          4  watershed protection plan has developed, DEP has

          5  developed an alternative to the filling of Grassy

          6  Bay.  Under this alternative, DEP will further

          7  reduce nitrogen in the effluent of two of the

          8  wastewater treatment plants.  Further investigations

          9  and water quality modeling have been done over the

         10  past year to support this alternative.  These

         11  results point to very positive results in nitrogen

         12  reduction and in particular increases in chlorophyll

         13  A. Chlorophyll A levels are very important to marine

         14  biota and help to sustain ecological processes over

         15  time, and as a result, promote restoration

         16  opportunities.

         17                 The most positive results of the

         18  additional studies are that the level of treatment

         19  needed to lower nitrogen levels can be introduced

         20  relatively quickly at 26th Ward and Jamaica

         21  Wastewater Pollution Control Plant.

         22                 Other strategies identified in the

         23  Jamaica Bay Watershed Protection Plan focus on ways

         24  to halt the loss of the salt marshes through

         25  restoration of recently submerged or degraded

                                                            17

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  wetlands and to reduce the further erosion of marsh

          3  islands.  This strategy was first developed by the

          4  Blue Ribbon Panel convened by the National Park

          5  Service in 2001, which recommended pilot projects to

          6  restore Big Egg Marsh, completed in 2003, Elders

          7  Point Marsh, presently under way, and Yellow Bar

          8  Hassock.

          9                 Despite the costs associated with

         10  large- scale restoration projects involving wetland

         11  spraying, estimated at approximately $500,000

         12  dollars per acre, the Jamaica Bay Watershed

         13  Protection Plan calls for the full implementation of

         14  these multi agency, collaborative restoration

         15  projects as well as others previously identified but

         16  still awaiting funding.

         17                 In addition, new technologies will be

         18  piloted as part of the Watershed Protection Plan to

         19  explore cost- effective alternatives to wetland

         20  spraying, such as wave attenuators which are

         21  designed to act as perimeter protection measures.

         22                 As I described previously, the

         23  approach for solving the most urgent and serious

         24  issue facing the Bay is multi- faceted in that it

         25  must target sources of the problem while
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          2  simultaneously employing steps to protect and

          3  preserve the fragile wetlands that remain.  No one

          4  entity, therefore, can do all that is required to

          5  reverse the trend of wetland loss.

          6                 The solution to Jamaica Bay's future

          7  health must also involve a collaborative and

          8  interactive approach to watershed planning.  Such an

          9  approach can be modeled after estuary programs for

         10  the Long Island Sound and Chesapeake Bay, both of

         11  which involve support from many layers of government

         12  and elected officials and have proven to be

         13  extremely successful in achieving specific water

         14  quality and ecological objectives.  Cost sharing and

         15  coordinated funding programs are common among these

         16  model programs and, in the same way, are critical

         17  elements for the successful implementation of

         18  wetland protection and restoration in Jamaica Bay.

         19                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         20  testify today, and I would be glad to answer any

         21  questions.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         23  Deputy Commissioner Licata.  I have some prepared

         24  questions that will commence forth. Thank you for

         25  your testimony.  We appreciate it.
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          2                 You talked about the process here and

          3  the plan and the Advisory Committee.  As I indicated

          4  earlier, DEP released a watershed plan in March.

          5  I'll just paraphrase the question here. As you know,

          6  the Advisory Committee found the draft to be

          7  inadequate in a number of critical areas

          8  particularly with regards to the future actions that

          9  DEP was going to take to protect the watershed and

         10  time frames in doing so.  They commented, as I

         11  mentioned, on that draft and the time they laid out

         12  for them, but with the caveat that their complete

         13  comments could not be submitted due to the

         14  shortcomings of the draft.  Instead, they stated in

         15  their comments that they would also comment on the

         16  final plan, and so the question is is DEP going to

         17  formally accept those comments, give them all due

         18  consideration, respond formerly to those comments

         19  and incorporate these recommendations in a

         20  reasonable way?  If so, please describe how that

         21  process will work.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: That's

         23  absolutely correct.  What we will be doing prior to

         24  October 1st is meeting with the Advisory Committee

         25  once again to present generally the recommendations
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          2  and the plan.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Has that meeting

          4  been set yet? Has that meeting been set?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: Yes, I

          6  wish I could recall the date, but the meeting has

          7  been set.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: It has been set,

          9  and so what's going to happen at that meeting?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: During

         11  that meeting, we will describe the major

         12  recommendations and strategies that we have included

         13  in the Watershed Protection Plan, and most

         14  importantly, what we will do is we will be awaiting

         15  the Advisory Committee's final recommendations based

         16  on the final and very complete plan that is issued

         17  on October 1st, and we will then formerly respond to

         18  those comments.  So we will both publish the

         19  comments by the Advisory Committee and the

         20  Department's response to those comments in a

         21  document that we anticipate coming out prior to

         22  December.

         23                 The Advisory Committee, as you may

         24  recall, will continue to exist in its basic form

         25  until three months post submission of the plan.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  So the

          3  process as I understand it  --  I am going to kind

          4  of relay this back to you to make sure I got it.

          5  This thing is supposed to come out October 1st.

          6  Before that, you are going to meet with them, and

          7  essentially going to brief them on the plan and all

          8  of the details.  You gave us some insights here, but

          9  you are going to go into more details with them.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: That's

         11  correct.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And then they'll

         13  be called upon to respond.  Not immediately because

         14  they're not really given enough time.  They will be

         15  called upon to respond after October 1st.  Right?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: Correct.

         17  We will give them  --  We worked out these dates.  I

         18  wish I could recall them right now.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  You

         20  worked it out with the Advisory Committee?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: We worked

         22  them out with the Advisory Committee's co- chairs,

         23  and we're giving them about 30 days, 45 days,

         24  whatever it is that they feel is reasonable, and

         25  then within a 30- day time period, or maybe a little
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          2  less, the Department will respond to those comments

          3  formerly and we'll be willing to publish that

          4  comment and response document.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.  What if

          6  the DEP sees fit to amend or change its October 1st

          7  deliverable based on the input of the Advisory

          8  Committee?  Can that happen?  Does that happen?

          9  Would that happen?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: Yes, but

         11  I'm looking at this as very analogous to an

         12  environmental impact statement process, once you

         13  document is issued, there is a response to comments

         14  portion of the review that maybe Mr. Avery is

         15  familiar with, and what we will do is if there is a

         16  section of the report that requires modification

         17  based on valid comments by the Advisory Committee,

         18  we will then state that for the record as well, that

         19  we have taken these comments and we agree that the

         20  report should be modified in the following fashion

         21  and then we will state that for the record.  That's

         22  why it's important for us to publish that response

         23  to comments document.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: To what extent

         25  did the comments that were put forward by the
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          2  Advisory Committee on their June 1st deliverable to

          3  you, because they had certain things that they

          4  wanted to stress  --  They wanted to stress

          5  nitrogen.  They wanted to stress a couple of other

          6  things.  To what extent did their work product sort

          7  of bear on your final report which will be put out?

          8  What was it about what they  --  Could you point to

          9  something that they said, or came up with, that had

         10  a real influence in this report that is going to

         11  come out on October 1st?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: Well the

         13  interesting thing about the work that the Department

         14  has done with the Advisory Committee is, I believe,

         15  on technical fronts, we haven't been thinking very

         16  differently.  I think real challenge comes into play

         17  when the Department has to weigh those technical

         18  issues with the benefits that will be derived and

         19  how large scale those benefits would be.  I mean

         20  there's not really a debate over whether or not

         21  something would be advantageous or not.  It's just

         22  how great would those benefits be and can the

         23  Department prioritize them among other initiatives

         24  that we have before us both on the water supply and

         25  on the wastewater side.  So I think it becomes our
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          2  job to sort of take those kinds of benefits that we

          3  would see within Jamaica Bay and then weigh it

          4  against the larger picture of responsibility that we

          5  have agency- wide.

          6                 So the Advisory Committee has

          7  influenced us.  Their input has been invaluable.

          8  They have been able to add the breath and

          9  understanding that we have for Jamaica Bay given the

         10  various disciplines that they represent, and I think

         11  together with our agency, it has culminated in a

         12  report that is shared in the way of priorities that

         13  are affecting Jamaica Bay.  I think there has been a

         14  willingness on both sides to hone in on those

         15  priorities.  So I think it has worked very well.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         17  Thank you.  I have more questions.  Let me just

         18  point out that we are joined by Council Member

         19  Recchia from Brooklyn, and Council Member Koppell

         20  has some conflicting Committee assignments.  I know

         21  that he was here with us briefly and indicated that

         22  he would not be able to stay a long time, but he has

         23  been a big supporter of the Bay.

         24                 Let me go on to my next question.

         25                 Will the final plan due out in
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          2  October include a complete list of actions needed to

          3  protect the Bay, a detailed implementation schedule

          4  for those actions, and a complete accounting of

          5  funding needed to implement those actions?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: The plan

          7  will be very comprehensive in terms of the

          8  strategies that we believe will be useful for

          9  implementing to protect Jamaica Bay and then broken

         10  down in priority order so that we have high priority

         11  strategies and middle and lower priority strategies.

         12                 Then with respect to the second  --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  If I could just

         14  jump in, but wouldn't a plan be this is what we

         15  actually intend to do as an absolute baseline let's

         16  say, that we have funding to do this.  We have a

         17  vision for this.  Here's how it's going to work.

         18  These are what the timetables are for doing this,

         19  and at a bare minimum, we're going to do this.  In

         20  addition, if we can get the funding and if it looks

         21  like it's going to work, or this technology if it

         22  looks like it's going to actually bear some fruit

         23  and manifest something then we're going to be doing

         24  this as well contingent on x, y or z.

         25                 I don't think I would like something
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          2  that just said we have prioritized things that make

          3  a lot of sense, and if we were to do something it

          4  would be things that looked like this but with no

          5  commitment to actually doing those.  Do you see the

          6  difference I'm trying to make?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: Oh

          8  absolutely.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So which would

         10  it be?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: The

         12  reason that it's a blend of those things is because

         13  the Department doesn't control implementation of all

         14  of the strategies.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: So for

         17  the strategies that we're recommending to improve

         18  water quality let's say in the Bay that are under

         19  DEP's control, there would be an estimated cost

         20  associated with that and an estimated schedule.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: Okay, and

         23  then there may be other strategies which are really

         24  wholly within the purview of let's say the Army

         25  Corps of Engineers for which we haven't necessarily
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          2  nailed down a timetable for, but we have attempted

          3  to provide a cost estimate.  So there is that blend.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  Thank

          5  you.

          6                 On the last page of your statement

          7  you mention some approaches like the estuary program

          8  for Long Island Sound and Chesapeake Bay.  Would

          9  this be the kind of thing that would actually be in

         10  the plan?  You would cite these various things.  Is

         11  that what we could expect?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: Yes.

         13  We're looking towards an opportunity, I think, to go

         14  forward with this plan in a context that may be

         15  larger than simply the DEP, that potentially through

         16  the National Estuary Program and the Harbor Estuary

         17  Program, as it's defined within the New York City,

         18  New Jersey confines, whether or not there can be an

         19  opportunity for Jamaica Bay to be featured as one of

         20  the areas of attention under that National Estuary

         21  Program.

         22                 So we have looked at expanding the

         23  possibilities, and how just to bring together all of

         24  the partners in a collaborative way.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: We've

          3  discussed many such opportunities in the plan.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, thank you.

          5                 I'm just trying to be economical in

          6  my questioning here.  My son is getting married on

          7  Saturday, and we have his rehearsal and rehearsal

          8  dinner tonight.  It's something that my attendance

          9  is required for.  You know how that goes, and so I'm

         10  trying to be economical in my questioning here.  Of

         11  course, I want to be there.  I just want to make

         12  sure that the tv understands I do want to be there.

         13                 Nitrogen reductions are required for

         14  Long Island Sound because of problems related to

         15  eutrophication.  Doesn't nitrogen loading in Jamaica

         16  Bay cause the same problems, and shouldn't those

         17  problems be addressed similarly to what they are

         18  doing in Long Island Sound?

         19                 I think that's what we were just

         20  talking about, right?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: I'm

         22  trying to think of a less technical response to that

         23  that's in keeping with the time frame.

         24                 The Long Island Sound levels that

         25  were achieved were correlated with water quality
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          2  improvements in DO to a much greater extent than

          3  they've been able to be correlated here in Jamaica

          4  Bay. In other words, additional nitrogen control

          5  that we would be suggesting here and exploring are

          6  much less related to DO issues and to a greater

          7  extent related to let's see if the chlorophyll A

          8  levels come up and therefore we can promote

          9  additional restoration opportunities and therefore

         10  we can invest in this technology.  We can have

         11  nature do it's job, and we can launch Jamaica Bay

         12  into the next decade in a healthier way.  I think

         13  that's what is going here in Jamaica Bay.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, thank you.

         15    What are measures that would available to

         16  lowerering nitrogen inputs from DEP facilities into

         17  Jamaica Bay, and are there a range of such measures

         18  with different costs and varying levels of

         19  effectiveness? It seems like you've already

         20  committed to doing something, but just give us a

         21  flavor of what measures would be available to lower

         22  nitrogen inputs from the DEP facilities into the

         23  Bay.

         24                 I mean you brushed on that in your

         25  testimony, but -
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: The basic

          3  answer to that is what we're looking is a level of

          4  nitrogen control that can be achieved based on

          5  changes in biological processes within the plants

          6  and with the addition of a chemical such as carbon,

          7  a methane addition.  The advantage to that is those

          8  are things that can be done near term since the

          9  marshland losses is a critical element in the Bay

         10  now.  These are things the Department can do nearer

         11  term than let's say alternatives such as very

         12  advanced levels of nitrogen control which will take

         13  decades to implement and require additional tanks,

         14  require potentially additional space next to the

         15  treatment plants.

         16                 There are all varying levels of

         17  nitrogen control that can be achieved, but we think

         18  that we're tremendous results from a level of

         19  nitrogen control that would rely upon biological

         20  changes in the tanks and this carbon addition that

         21  are really positive.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: How would the

         23  nitrogen control of your plants that affect the East

         24  River, and ultimately the Long Island Sound, the

         25  nitrogen control that's being done  --  How would
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          2  the nitrogen control measures that are contemplated

          3  for Jamaica Bay compare to what you're doing in Long

          4  Island Sound?  In terms of the level of effort

          5  because I know that you're under this strict federal

          6  program to reduce 58.5 percent over a number of

          7  years, and so as a result, we're implementing  --

          8  we're  --  you and me  -- implementing measures

          9  there, and how would that relate to what we're doing

         10  in Jamaica Bay?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: Well one

         12  of the things is that in the Long Island Sound the

         13  City does have much of the burden with respect to

         14  reducing nitrogen in Long Island Sound, but there

         15  are partners in Long Island, Nassau County and

         16  Connecticut.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: So in

         19  Jamaica Bay it really is the City's burden to reduce

         20  the nitrogen from the treatment plant from the

         21  sources coming in.  What the agency will do with

         22  respect to Jamaica Bay and how it compares with the

         23  level of treatment in the Long Island Sound, I

         24  really can't say here.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: But you know
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          2  what you're doing for the plants that affect the

          3  Long Island Sound.  You have a sense of what those

          4  plants are going to be outfitted with and the kinds

          5  of nitrogen reductions that those plants are going

          6  to realize.  How does that effort compare to the

          7  plants that affect Jamaica Bay? Just compare those,

          8  if you would.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: Right.

         10  No, absolutely, it's knowable.  I just don't have it

         11  off the top of my head.  So that, sincerely, I can't

         12  provide that answer today, but I could certainly get

         13  you that answer very quickly.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.  Okay.

         15  Sure.

         16                 Without having to compare to the Long

         17  Island Sound plans, what kind of reductions are we

         18  expecting for Jamaica Bay? What kind of ultimate

         19  nitrogen reductions are we sort of looking -

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: Actually,

         21  these models we are running right now are providing

         22  us with outputs.  So I can only tell you what those

         23  outputs have shown.  Sometimes there are several

         24  iterations and this changes a little bit, but on the

         25  record now, and from the latest model runs that I've
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          2  seen, the 55 or 58.5 percent reductions in Long

          3  Island Sound are very achievable in Jamaica Bay with

          4  the proposals that the Department is making.

          5                 It all depends on the time frame.

          6  When you look at these discharges in Long Island

          7  Sound, they're using maybe 1994 as the starting

          8  point, and if we use a similar starting point, we

          9  can get very close to those reductions in Jamaica

         10  Bay.  So they can be very similar in terms of that

         11  50 percent reduction, but it's really not comparing

         12  apples to apples because, again, that 50 percent

         13  reduction in the Long Island Sound does equate to

         14  further water quality compliance and was a very

         15  clear break with respect to that number and lead

         16  everybody to that decision like here's where we stop

         17  because it will cost us you know in excess of

         18  hundreds of millions of dollars more to get a

         19  preceptable difference from this point.  Where as in

         20  Jamaica Bay that clear break is really not made.

         21  But ironically enough the levels are comparative.

         22  Okay?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I see.  Okay.

         24  Let me see if I have more questions.

         25                 I think you've already spoken to the
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          2  last part of this question, but let me just give you

          3  the whole thing and we'll see where it goes.  Does

          4  DEP, or to the best of your knowledge, any other

          5  agency or group have complete information on how

          6  nitrogen discharge into Jamaica Bay has changed over

          7  time including, in particular, before 1991 when

          8  ocean dumping was banned and sludge de- watering

          9  started at the 26th Ward plant?  Do you have or know

         10  about any study that has tracked marsh loss to

         11  nitrogen discharge amounts?

         12                 There you go.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: I don't

         14  know of any study prior to that date, and I think

         15  that it would be a fairly difficult piece of work to

         16  try to put that together.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I'm just asking

         18  the question.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: I mean

         20  would could imagine how that would go.  You would

         21  look at aerial photographs. You would try to look at

         22  the discharge rates.

         23                 To the best of my knowledge, nobody

         24  has done that analysis, and I don't have that

         25  available to me.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

          3                 Last question.  How is DEP

          4  coordinating with other agencies, including from the

          5  state and federal government, in figuring out the

          6  causes of marsh loss and in developing responses to

          7  it?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: Well on a

          9  City level, we are working very closely in a

         10  coordinated way through the Sustainable Plan of

         11  Mayor Bloomberg's.  So through PlaNYC, we have a

         12  number of ongoing efforts, interactive efforts, with

         13  other City agencies to look at storm water control

         14  and various other means at which land uses could be

         15  thought of a little bit differently, implemented a

         16  little bit differently, to reduce both storm water

         17  and other types of pollutant sources to waterways.

         18                 On a federal and state level, we're

         19  working and coordinating with the Army Corps of

         20  Engineers, and there are certain matching funds,

         21  which I cannot quote now, with respect to marshland

         22  restoration that we wish to conduct in the future.

         23                 We are developing a Memorandum of

         24  Understanding between us and the Army Corps of

         25  Engineers to further their efforts at getting the
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          2  proper Congressional authorizations to spend

          3  additional money on the marshland losses.

          4                 Really in the last year, I would say

          5  a lot of the coordinating efforts have been done

          6  over the water quality plan with the Department and

          7  DEC and our coordination with the National Park

          8  Service has really been done under the auspices of

          9  the Advisory Committee.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         11  Commissioner Licata. We appreciate your appearance

         12  before us today, and certainly we're going to be

         13  talking to the Advisory Committee and you have put

         14  forward how you intend to weave them into the

         15  process.  We'll get their perspective on that.

         16  Hopefully, it will be a favorable one, and we

         17  anxiously await the release of the October 1st

         18  report and the comments from the DEP regarding the

         19  value added and comments that are made to that final

         20  plan by the Advisory Committee.  I appreciate your

         21  being here.  Thanks very much.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: Thank you

         23  very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: All the best to

         25  Emily and all the good folks at DEP, some of whom
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          2  are here today.

          3                 Rick and I just had  --  It was the

          4  battle of 149th Street.  Right?  I think we're

          5  winning there.  So thank you for your efforts, and

          6  thank you Angela.

          7                 I didn't mean to leave out Mark or

          8  Annie.  They are both great soldiers.  Thanks very

          9  much.

         10                 Next witness is Barry Sullivan of the

         11  National Park Service, Gateway National Recreation

         12  Area to be followed by Len Houston of the U.S. Army

         13  Corps of Engineers.

         14                 Mr. Sullivan, thanks very much for

         15  being here today. We appreciate your presence.  Do

         16  we have a statement?  Okay.  I'll take a statement

         17  and we'll be off and running.  A statement, my

         18  kingdom for a statement.  Do we have a statement?

         19  Did you provide statements to the Sergeant?  We

         20  stole one from Peter so we're good. Okay.

         21                 Mr. Sullivan, thank you for being

         22  here.  You have to turn the microphone.  Just push

         23  the button there.  Try it now.

         24                 MR. SULLIVAN: All right.  That sounds

         25  better.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  You have

          3  to state your name for the record and proceed with

          4  your testimony.  Thanks very much for being here.

          5                 MR. SULLIVAN: Good afternoon.  My

          6  name is Barry Sullivan, and I'm the General

          7  Superintendent of Gateway National Recreation Area.

          8  It's a pleasure to be here and talk a little bit

          9  about the potential improvements that we hope to see

         10  for Jamaica Bay.  I have provided you written

         11  comments to look forward through.            I just

         12  wanted to really start out by describing, as you

         13  already have enumerated, the tremendous potential

         14  for Jamaica Bay.  Jamaica Bay, the park itself,

         15  Gateway National Recreation Area is one of 392 units

         16  of the National Park system, and it's one that those

         17  of us that work in the New York Metropolitan Area

         18  are particularly proud of.  It's 26,000 acres about

         19  half of which are actually in Jamaica Bay, and

         20  Jamaica Bay is an estuary, and estuaries, as we all

         21  know, are really the nurseries of our oceans. All of

         22  our finfish, shellfish, crabs, everything that

         23  really grows into maturity does that in our

         24  estuaries and then leads out to our oceans.  It's

         25  also valuable to passing  --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sergeant, if we

          3  could just close the doors in the back, I would

          4  appreciate it.  We've got some noise coming from the

          5  rotunda.  Okay.  Sorry about that Mr. Sullivan.

          6                 MR. SULLIVAN: That's fine.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Please proceed.

          8                 MR. SULLIVAN: It's also an incredibly

          9  important resource to the migrating waterfowl along

         10  the Atlantic flyway.  To date, we've recorded 331

         11  species of birds of the approximately 750 species in

         12  the entire North American continent.

         13                 Just to put that in perspective,

         14  that's more bird species than most of our National

         15  Parks see combined, including the major National

         16  Parks such as Yellowstone, Yosemite and such.  It's

         17  something that we are particularly proud of.

         18                 The Atlantic flyway is a large

         19  flyway.  Jamaica Bay being that kind of natural area

         20  in New York City is incredibly important, and the

         21  ecological health of the estuary is the reason we're

         22  seeing those kinds of species.

         23                 Important to that is wetlands and

         24  wetland loss. You've already heard some testimony on

         25  the degree of loss.  It's a major concern to us in
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          2  the National Park Service.  We're seeing an

          3  accelerated rate of loss.  Wetlands, the inner tidal

          4  zone, it's the area that is really the use area for

          5  many of those species including horseshoe crabs that

          6  breed in that area.  That egg source is so important

          7  to migrating birds.  Some species, such as the Red

          8  Knot are threatened by that loss of inner tidal

          9  wetlands and such. So it is an important resource.

         10  It's critical to the ecological health of the

         11  region, and it's something that we're very proud to

         12  manage and manage with partners many of which you

         13  see here at the table.

         14                 I would like to talk a little bit

         15  about the natural resource partnership that's going

         16  on, and as the City is aware, Gateway National

         17  Recreation Area's natural resource managers have

         18  been working cooperatively with key non- government

         19  groups, many City organizations, state and federal

         20  agencies and the Jamaica Bay Watershed Protection

         21  Advisory Committee, which was created by Local Law

         22  71 under your leadership, sir, and we are encouraged

         23  by the spirit of that cooperation.  It's really an

         24  inspiration, and it's due to the effort of many

         25  government and non- government entities. We continue
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          2  to remain hopeful about the Bay's aquatic ecosystem.

          3                 We view the overall goal of restoring

          4  and sustaining the water quality and the ecological

          5  integrity of Jamaica Bay as the highest priority for

          6  Gateway National Recreation Area, its wildlife, its

          7  visitors and for the City of New York, and I can't

          8  underestimate  --  emphasize that enough.  It is our

          9  highest priority of the entire Park.  So it's why

         10  myself and several members, key members of our

         11  staff, are here to provide that kind of support and

         12  really the efforts that the Park has been able to

         13  put towards this regard is a result of that fine

         14  staff.

         15                 The recently released  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Let me just take

         17  this opportunity, if I could, to thank you Mr.

         18  Sullivan and all the dedicated staff of Gateway who

         19  have been real people who live it everyday, 24/7,

         20  out there and dedicating yourselves personally and

         21  professionally to the furtherance of the Bay.  All

         22  New Yorkers and all people in the U.S. who have high

         23  regard for the parks owe you a debt of gratitude,

         24  and your presence here today is testimony to your

         25  ongoing commitment.  Thank you.  Thank you for being
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          2  here.

          3                 MR. SULLIVAN: Thank you, sir, and

          4  certainly I will pass that on to the other members

          5  that couldn't be here.

          6                 The recently released update on marsh

          7  loss in Jamaica Bay, which was prepared by Gateway

          8  National Recreation Area, our division of Natural

          9  Resources, and the Jamaica Bay Watershed Protection

         10  Advisory Committee, underscores the urgency of the

         11  need for further research into the linkages between

         12  nitrogen levels and salt marsh loss in the Bay as

         13  well the need for immediate restoration measures to

         14  keep pace with that accelerated marsh loss.

         15                 As you indicated, in the last three

         16  years we've really chronicled about 44 acres worth

         17  of marsh loss.  Now fortunately through the

         18  partnership with the Army Corps of Engineers and

         19  many other agencies that are here we've been able to

         20  restore approximately 40 acres during that same

         21  time.  Despite that large scale effort, we're still

         22  at a deficit loss.  We're still losing acres over

         23  that same period of time.

         24                 As the salt marsh loss report

         25  mentions, Jamaica Bay remains one of the largest and
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          2  most productive coastal ecosystems in the

          3  Northeastern United States and includes the largest

          4  tidal wetlands complex in the New York Metropolitan

          5  area.  The function and values of the resources to

          6  fish and wildlife have been well documented and are

          7  also well known by those concerned, and of course,

          8  including yourself.  It is therefore imperative that

          9  the poor water quality of the Bay and it's

         10  watershed/sewershed be addressed in urgency

         11  beginning with the significant nitrogen reduction

         12  from the wastewater treatment plants and their

         13  discharges.

         14                 From a resource manager prospective,

         15  I am greatly concerned about getting over this water

         16  quality hurdle and as quickly as possible because

         17  most of the resource management strategies that we

         18  and others have developed are really contingent upon

         19  good water quality.  Just to paraphrase that, you

         20  know if we don't do anything about the water

         21  quality, all of our efforts are really going to be

         22  for not.  We need to continue those efforts, but it

         23  can only be successful if it's in concert with an

         24  increase in the water quality of the Bay.

         25                 Once the Bay's waters are improved to
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          2  a sustainable high level quality, ecosystem

          3  restoration efforts such as shellfish and seagrass

          4  beds, which have declined in the Bay for decades,

          5  will no longer viewed as high risk endeavors.  We

          6  will be able to attract and recruit more partners in

          7  that effort to help restore those.

          8                 Gateway National Recreation Area

          9  greatly appreciates the work and the support of New

         10  York City's Council Committee on Environmental

         11  Protection.  We look forward to the continued

         12  support from the Council and the many other partners

         13  that are involved in the protection and enhancement

         14  of the Jamaica Bay ecosystem.  I do want to

         15  emphasize that continuously.  It has been a

         16  partnership, and we appreciate that.

         17                 In the spirit of the original intent

         18  of Local Law 71, I urge you to support any and all

         19  immediate actions pertaining to the most critical

         20  concerns at hand, the reduction of nitrogen in the

         21  Bay, reductions in the quantity of sewage discharge

         22  in the Bay and improvements to sewage treatment in

         23  the respect of sewage treatment plants and

         24  discharges into Jamaica Bay, as well as other steps

         25  and best management practices recommended by the
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          2  Jamaica Bay Watershed Protection Plan Advisory

          3  Committee throughout the Jamaica Bay Watershed.

          4                 I truly appreciate the invitation to

          5  appear before the Committee and make these

          6  recommendations.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: No, thank you.

          8  It's important that you be here.  It's important

          9  that you make the case for these nitrogen

         10  reductions, and it's important that we get action as

         11  soon as possible.

         12                 As the report that you folks and the

         13  Advisory Committee authored, it's the least I can do

         14  to try to get you attention to that, and I'm driving

         15  the issue of nitrogen with DEP, and I want to get

         16  those nitrogen reductions, and we want to restore

         17  water quality.  We want everything that we know the

         18  Bay can be.  I mean this is the generation where

         19  we're either going to save the Bay or blow it, and

         20  we don't want that on our conscience.  Right? We

         21  don't want to give to our kids a degraded Bay.  We

         22  have the ability to make it a better Bay, and that's

         23  what we should do.  And with the good help of you

         24  and your folks and the efforts that you bring to

         25  this task, I'm hopeful that we'll be able to
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          2  succeed.

          3                 Thank you, Mr. Sullivan.  I want to

          4  thank you and the people from Gateway who are here.

          5  Thanks for being here today.

          6                 MR. SULLIVAN: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: You bet.

          8                 Len Houston the U.S. Army Corps of

          9  Engineers.  Thank you, Mr Houston.  Thank you for

         10  being here.  Thank you for your statement, and

         11  appreciate all the work that the Corps has brought

         12  to this process.  If you could just state your name

         13  for the record and proceed with your testimony.

         14                 MR. HOUSTON: Okay.  Thank you for

         15  inviting me.  My name is Leonard Houston.  I am the

         16  Chief of the Environmental Analysis Branch at the

         17  U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, New York District.

         18                 Colonel Tortora, our District

         19  Engineer, regrets that he was unable to testify in

         20  person today, but wishes to thank the Council for

         21  this opportunity to add our voice to this very vital

         22  issue.

         23                 Jamaica Bay has been termed the jewel

         24  of the City, and to the casual observer it may seem

         25  that this Bay is indeed a natural wonder with its
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          2  extensive expanses of open water, marshes, sand bars

          3  and beaches.  However, those of us who have studied

          4  the Bay, or live beside it, know full well that it

          5  has suffered from decades of alterations, abuses and

          6  other insults.  Indeed, almost no portion of the Bay

          7  has not been altered or impacted by man's actions.

          8  That is still appears natural and provides varied

          9  enjoyments to many City residents and visitors

         10  attests to its tremendous resiliency and a strong

         11  community drive to protect what remains.  It is this

         12  resiliency and action that prompted the City Council

         13  to pass Local Law 71 calling for the comprehensive

         14  plan to protect what remains and restore what can

         15  be.

         16                 As one of the Mayor's appointees to

         17  the Advisory Committee that the Council charged with

         18  oversight in the preparation of the plan by DEP, it

         19  has been my privilege to work closely with six other

         20  highly motivated and dedicated individuals in moving

         21  this plan forward.  Our chairman will shortly be

         22  testifying on the issue of the salt marsh losses on

         23  behalf of the Committee.  Therefore, I would like to

         24  focus my remarks on how those losses might be

         25  reversed and what the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers
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          2  can bring to the table to help meet this goal.

          3                 It seems just a few short years ago

          4  that a small group of local environmentalists, the

          5  Jamaica Bay Ecowatchers, brought the plight of the

          6  salt marsh islands to the attention of the resource

          7  and regulatory agencies.  As you might imagine, they

          8  were faced with skepticism at first, but through

          9  perseverance and the collection of evidence, they

         10  were finally able to literally force people to stand

         11  up and take notice.  The New York State Department

         12  of Environmental Conservation, or DEC, final report

         13  fully vindicated the Ecowatchers concerns and the

         14  latest studies, as summarized in the Advisory

         15  Committee chairman's testimony, sounds a clear and

         16  strong warning to the community that the time to do

         17  something is now.  No where is this clearer than in

         18  the report of the blue ribbon panel assembled by

         19  Gateway to address this very issue.  This group of

         20  scientists recommended that, besides undertaking

         21  studies to determine the cause, steps be taken

         22  immediately to halt and reverse the losses before

         23  this precious resource is gone forever.

         24                 This is where my agency has been able

         25  to play a small but hopefully growing part.  As the
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          2  country's premiere engineering agency, the Corps is

          3  well known for its construction ethic, one that can

          4  be seen all over the Metropolitan Area, from the

          5  deep water navigation channels that bring in

          6  commerce to the storm and flood protection projects

          7  that protect lives and property to the great beaches

          8  that our citizens enjoy.  A somewhat lesser but

          9  growing role stems from an expansion of our

         10  authority that now enables us to apply the knowledge

         11  of experience gained from our more traditional role

         12  to projects that protect and restore the natural

         13  resources and ecology of the region as well.

         14  Consequently, we were very pleased when the New York

         15  City Department of Environmental Protection asked us

         16  to investigate the potential use of dredged material

         17  to restore some of the eroded marsh islands as it

         18  gave us an opportunity to act on the blue ribbon's

         19  panel's recommendation to do something now while

         20  there are still marshes left to be saved, a

         21  recommendation that the Advisory Committee has

         22  endorsed and is featured prominently in DEP's draft

         23  Jamaica Bay Improvement Plan.

         24                 The question remained where to focus

         25  our efforts, and to answer that we asked help from a
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          2  myriad of agencies with responsibilities in the Bay.

          3    A multi- agency project delivery team, or what we

          4  call a PDT, was formed and included members of

          5  Gateway National Recreation Area, New York State

          6  Department of Environmental Conservation, New York

          7  State Department of State, the Port Authority of New

          8  York/New Jersey and New York City Parks Department,

          9  as well as Corps and New York City DEP staff.  Many

         10  of these agencies were often seen in the past as

         11  adversaries with competing missions.  Those

         12  differences were set aside in an unprecedented and

         13  binding commitment to pool their assets and

         14  experiences and address the threat of marsh loss as

         15  a team, an action that in and of itself gives even

         16  greater credence to the seriousness of the problem.

         17                 Quickly they moved through a

         18  screening process and identified four target

         19  islands.  Then, in collaboration with the local

         20  community, the Elders Point and Yellow Bar islands

         21  were singled out for expedited attention and efforts

         22  turned toward making this a reality.

         23                 The importance of such a team

         24  approach is key to meeting all the challenges faced

         25  by the Bay.  No one agency, group or political
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          2  entity has all the expertise and resources to go

          3  this route alone.  This is most evident when Gateway

          4  actively consulted with the newly formed team before

          5  and during their implementation of the very first

          6  small- scale pilot restoration at Big Egg Marsh. The

          7  end result, which employed an innovative thin- layer

          8  spraying technique to rebuild lost portions of the

          9  marsh with sand from an adjacent channel was so

         10  successful that the national Coastal America program

         11  bestowed on the entire team its annual Partnership

         12  Award.

         13                 Realizing that this technique was

         14  costly, limited in the volume and therefore the

         15  size, and not without impact to the Bay, the team

         16  turned to larger sources of material from

         17  maintenance dredging of the channel leading into the

         18  Bay, the Rockaway Channel, and deepening of the main

         19  navigation channel into New York, or Ambrose

         20  Channel, to form the basis for restoring the larger

         21  Elders point island.  They also looked to less than

         22  traditional avenues of funding to make this happen.

         23  The ongoing deepening of the harbor provided such an

         24  opportunity.

         25                 When the regulatory agencies required
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          2  mitigation for scattered habitat losses that would

          3  result from creating a deeper channel, the Corps and

          4  its local partner, the Port Authority, offered to

          5  restore Elders Point as mitigation for a portion of

          6  those losses.  New York State DEC, realizing the

          7  time- sensitive nature of the marsh loss problem,

          8  agreed to accept the offer even though the impacts

          9  were occurring in a different part of the system.

         10  With funds and signed Project Cooperation Agreement

         11  already in place, implementation moved at, for

         12  government, lightening speed.  Thanks to the

         13  flexibility of DEC, an opportunity to address a

         14  significant part of the marsh loss came to fruition

         15  with the completion of Elders Point East last year.

         16                 Besides introducing innovations such

         17  as using plants grown from seeds harvested from the

         18  Bay itself, the real hands- on experience of

         19  applying theory to the reality of the Bay has been

         20  invaluable both directly in improving the

         21  restoration project itself through constructive

         22  feedback and indirectly in improving the designs and

         23  construction techniques used to restore other sites.

         24                 A similar sense of urgency and

         25  cooperation is driving Elders West.  Employing
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          2  harbor funds, approved by the Port Authority, to

          3  advance the design of the site under the authority

          4  of the beneficial use of dredged material program

          5  and a combination of City DEP and State DEC funds to

          6  provide a non- federal match from construction, work

          7  is scheduled to begin with seed collection this fall

          8  and sand placement in spring of 2008 for Elders

          9  West, pending, of course, the signing of an

         10  agreement between the Corps and the two non- federal

         11  sponsors.

         12                 Adding Yellow Bar, which has already

         13  been approved through the Corps process, possibly as

         14  early as 2009, would continue to build off our

         15  successes and maintain the momentum critical to

         16  rebuilding marshes at a rate beginning to keep pace

         17  with, or may actually exceed, the projected rate of

         18  loss.

         19                 Just as it is the announced intention

         20  of this hearing to look into factors that affect the

         21  marsh loss, so too should it be concerned with

         22  factors that might help or hinder its recovery.  The

         23  above successes demonstrate two essential elements

         24  necessary for the timely restoration of the marshes,

         25  teamwork and flexibility.  This is especially
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          2  evident in the need to correlate future restorations

          3  with scheduled dredging contracts.  Delays over the

          4  smallest issues of policy, funding, traditional

          5  roles or other forms of business as usual could

          6  result in missing contract windows that would

          7  deprive the Bay of much of the large- scale source

          8  of material needed to orchestrate any significant

          9  comeback of its marshes.

         10                 Big Egg and Elders succeeded because

         11  everybody worked together to move traditional

         12  hurdles and roadblocks out of the path to success.

         13  Everyone must maintain this commitment.  The

         14  perceived needs or responsibilities, regulatory or

         15  otherwise, of the individual agencies, as well as

         16  members of the public, must be applied with this in

         17  mind.

         18                 Though appropriate environmental

         19  controls must be and have been followed, the desire

         20  for perfection, to push one's specific agenda or to

         21  eliminate all levels of risk must not be allowed to

         22  creep back into the planning or review process, or

         23  we will quickly see the costs escalate and the time

         24  frames expand to the point that real opportunities

         25  are lost and the Bay suffers in the long- run.
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          2                 Much of what has impacted the Bay

          3  came about as a result of significant and wide-

          4  spread alterations that essentially reshaped the Bay

          5  and its processes.  It would be incorrect to get

          6  bogged down in the futile attempts to protect these

          7  conditions or maintain the very status quo that both

          8  DEC and the Advisory Committee found so alarming.

          9  All our too limited success came about because

         10  people were able to be flexible and innovative and

         11  to take some risks to gain big benefits and generate

         12  firsthand feedback that can be positively redirected

         13  into better and better outputs.

         14                 If we as a community continue to look

         15  at the big picture, the marsh loss can and will be

         16  reversed.  That said, restoration can't stop at the

         17  marsh islands.  Jamaica Bay is an ecosystem, and as

         18  such it is made up of various habitats interacting

         19  to support the whole.  This means that we must make

         20  sure that other components of the system aren't

         21  ignored in our haste to address the issue that is

         22  currently the center of our attention.

         23                 The Corps has recently completed a

         24  draft feasibility report that, once it completes our

         25  internal review process, will make public the plans
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          2  to implement eight other restoration projects that

          3  encompass other habitats of the Bay.  These range

          4  from beach and marsh complex along Deadhorse Point

          5  to water quality and benthic habitats within

          6  Paedegat and Fresh Creek tributaries, to marsh

          7  protection and creation at the Bay's periphery at

          8  Brant Point, Dubois Point and Hawtree Basin.

          9                 These projects are consistent with

         10  other goals of New York City DEP's draft Jamaica Bay

         11  Improvement Plan as well as recommendations of the

         12  Advisory Committee, and active support by the

         13  Council would go a long way toward getting

         14  Congressional authorization and funding to put these

         15  in place.  Similar support would also help move

         16  ahead a joint Corps- New York City Parks project to

         17  actually remove old fill and restore coastal marsh

         18  at Gerritsen Beach, immediately adjacent to the new

         19  Environmental Center at Marine Park.  What a great

         20  opportunity this would provide to add an educational

         21  component that both the draft plan and Advisory

         22  Committee feel are essentially important to

         23  maintaining efforts to protect and restore the Bay.

         24  With an approved report in hand, signed PC already

         25  done and state bond funds in place, all the
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          2  Gerritsen project lacks to make is a reality is

          3  allocation of federal funds.

          4                 Our initial successes are

          5  encouraging, and the recommendations for future

          6  actions consistent with the very Jamaica Bay

          7  Improvement Plan that the Council has directed DEP

          8  to prepare. As such, these actions have received the

          9  support of the Advisory Committee as well as the

         10  local community.  Not so all our efforts. Some

         11  proposals remain stymied by community opposition,

         12  suggesting that the history of mistrust and

         13  adversarial relationships still runs deep.

         14  Hopefully science will continue to serve equally as

         15  the basis for decisions on all our projects, even

         16  those that remain controversial, and the growing and

         17  expanding partnership that has worked so well in

         18  identifying and addressing the marsh loss problem

         19  will continue to lead the charge forward.

         20                 In the end, the Bay belongs to us

         21  all, and we all benefit from working together to

         22  make things happen.  In this spirit, the Corps

         23  remains willing to help as much as funding and our

         24  authorization allow and time frames permit.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Chief, thank you

          3  so much for being here today.  I know a lot more now

          4  than I did six pages ago.

          5                 MR. HOUSTON: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Please consider

          7  me and this Committee an advocacy resource for you.

          8  The staff to the Committee here, Dan Avery, you

          9  should make sure that you are in contact with him as

         10  things that we can do to help you in what you are

         11  trying to do.  You indicated that with our support,

         12  we might be able to help you do things.  We have the

         13  ability to give voice to our support in various

         14  ways.  There are Council resolutions.  There are

         15  other things that we can do.  So please consider me

         16  an ally in the good work that you and the Corps are

         17  trying to do.  So I thank you very much for being

         18  here today and for your can- do approach towards

         19  making sure there is team- building and cooperation

         20  and not a lot of squabbling and yelling and

         21  screaming.  I do that a lot, but I don't find it to

         22  be very productive.  So Chief, I thank you and all

         23  the members of the Corps for your good efforts, and

         24  I'm very glad that you came here, prepared this

         25  comprehensive testimony and read it in its entirety.
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          2    Thank you very much.

          3                 MR. HOUSTON: Thank you.  You're

          4  welcome.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And we're joined

          6  by Council Member Bill DeBlasio from Brooklyn.

          7  Thank you for being here, Bill.  I appreciate it.

          8                 Now, of course, what we're going to

          9  do is  --  Of course, the Chief is a member of the

         10  Advisory Committee, but was testifying for the Corps

         11  and the federal government.  So we put him on, but

         12  we have three more remaining members of the Advisory

         13  Committee that we wish to put on.  We'll have a

         14  panel, and we'll have Dr. Larry Swanson from Stony

         15  Brook, my alma mater, Brad Sewell from NRDC, who is

         16  the co- chairman of the Advisory Committee and my

         17  good friend, Dan Mundy from Broad Channel who is

         18  head of the Jamaica Bay Ecowatchers, and so if Dr.

         19  Swanson, Brad Sewell and Dan Mundy could come to the

         20  witness stand.

         21                 Where's Dan?  Where did he go?

         22                 Gentlemen, thank you for being here.

         23  I appreciate all of your hard work, meeting after

         24  meeting, all the work you've done.  It's hard for me

         25  to sort of characterize and act out all of the good

                                                            60

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  things that you've done, but I have been aware of

          3  it, and certainly very appreciative of it.

          4                 I guess why don't we start to my

          5  right.  Brad, as co- chairman.  Chairmanship has its

          6  privileges, let us say.  So Brad, thank you for

          7  being co- chair of this and we'll hear from Brad and

          8  Larry and ultimately Dan.  So if you could  --  I

          9  just want to make sure that I have  --  All right.

         10  I've got everybody now.

         11                 Brad, thank you for being here.  If

         12  you could state your name for the record and

         13  commence with your testimony, I'd appreciate it.

         14                 MR. SEWELL: Okay.  Thank you,

         15  Councilman Gennaro and other members of the

         16  Committee.  My name is Brad Sewell.  I'm a senior

         17  attorney with NRDC.  I drew the short stick or the

         18  long stick, depending upon how you want to look at

         19  it.  I'm actually testifying specifically on behalf

         20  of the Advisory Committee.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right, yes.

         22                 MR. SEWELL: And I'm co- chair of that

         23  Advisory Committee, and have the privilege of

         24  serving with Doug Adamo from the National Park

         25  Services as co- chair of the Advisory Committee.
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          2                 As you well know, and as we've talked

          3  about today, this Advisory Committee is a creation

          4  of Local Law 71, and we're assisting DEP in their

          5  preparation of a Jamaica Bay Watershed Protection

          6  Plan.  I will not get into the details of why

          7  Jamaica Bay is a wonderful place, but  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

          9                 MR. SEWELL: Suffice to say that it is

         10  a wonderful, unique place and an asset that New York

         11  City, and more broadly stated, federal agencies need

         12  to really take steps to restore and protect.

         13                 I do want to very briefly summarize,

         14  although the chair did a wonderful job initially in

         15  summarizing this report that we released this

         16  summer.  I want to summarize it maybe again because

         17  it is, in our view, so important  --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.

         19                 MR. SEWELL:   --  And as it was an

         20  important part of our process and our work as a

         21  committee.  We set about our work several years ago.

         22    We had known and had consistently tracked the

         23  wetlands losses as a key problem that needed to be

         24  addressed as part of our work and one of the key

         25  problems confronting Jamaica Bay, and saw fit at one
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          2  point in the process to see if we could update what

          3  DEC had done in their 2001 mapping analysis in terms

          4  of figuring out the exact extent of the wetlands

          5  loss over time using GIS methods.  It so happened

          6  that Gateway National Recreation Area and the

          7  technical staff there had done a tremendous amount

          8  of work already in terms of putting together the

          9  technical foundation for such a update on the DEC

         10  2001 reports.  So working collaboratively with that

         11  technical staff, we filled out the analysis and then

         12  wrote it up essentially and released that this

         13  summer.

         14                 As you have summarized, the results

         15  are quite alarming.  There is no doubt that the

         16  wetlands loss is accelerating and no sign that it is

         17  slowing down except possibly with some of the

         18  marshes like Elders that are so dimuted (sic)

         19  although are in the process of restoration.  Elders

         20  got to such a point of diminution by 2005 that is

         21  actually seemed to no longer be disappearing because

         22  it had virtually disappeared as it was.

         23                 Other than that, I don't know whether

         24  you take that as an encouraging sign or a very

         25  discouraging sign.  The results across the Bay were
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          2  quite dismal.  Parts of the Bay in which marsh loss

          3  had not previously been a problem is now starting to

          4  become a problem in the Northeast and in the South.

          5                 In the course of putting together our

          6  plan and our recommendations, we collected quite a

          7  bit of testimony as to the problems confronting the

          8  Bay including the causes and possible causes of the

          9  marsh loss.  As other witnesses have testified, it

         10  is not clear what's causing the marsh loss.  There

         11  are some leading hypothesis.  There are first- tier

         12  hypothesis, second- tier hypothesis and it may very

         13  well be that some of the causal factors are working

         14  together.

         15                 In any event, we do know that there

         16  is a tremendous amount of nitrogen being discharged

         17  from the four wastewater treatment plants that

         18  surround the Bay, on the order of about 250 million

         19  gallons per day of treated wastewater containing

         20  around 37,000 pounds of nitrogen per day being

         21  discharged into the Bay. There is a plausible

         22  scientific hypothesis that has had some level of

         23  documentation in the literature concerning how that

         24  nitrogen through a series of chemical reactions

         25  eventually can cause the root structures to
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          2  deteriorate in the marsh loss, to erode away, to

          3  lose its structure and be subject to environmental

          4  sources, extreme sources and erode away.

          5                 We also know that as of about 1990,

          6   '91, nitrogen inputs in the Bay were below 30,000

          7  pounds a day and that they rapidly climbed up by

          8   '95, '96 to between 50,000 and 60,000 pounds a day.

          9    So almost double in a five to six- year period by

         10  virtue of the ocean dumping ban, which, while it was

         11  a good thing in many respects, had this one

         12  ancillary negative impact.

         13                 While Commissioner Licata was correct

         14  in saying that in the last decade levels have gone

         15  down, really the appropriate time span to be looking

         16  at is the last decade and a half.  Go back not to

         17   '95, which is the time line that was selected in

         18  her testimony, but go back to '90 and you see that

         19  they spiked up tremendously and they've gone down

         20  somewhat, but they remain significantly above 1990

         21  levels.

         22                 Again, one thing that was consistent

         23  between the analysis done by DEC and the analysis

         24  released this summer is that we saw this

         25  acceleration of marsh loss that really seemed to
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          2  start occurring in the late '80's, early '90's time

          3  frame.  Now that's only a temporal connection, but

          4  certainly worthy of consideration and of pause.

          5                 To get to the recommendations of the

          6  Advisory Committee  --  We have talked about one of

          7  the primary recommendations, the Advisory Committee,

          8  in response to the nitrogen problem, and that is to

          9  do as much as we can to continue and expand the

         10  marsh restoration effort that's been spoken of to

         11  try to keep pace as much as possible with this

         12  problem, to also ramp up the scientific effort to

         13  really get a much, much better handle on exactly

         14  what the cause is.

         15                 At some point in this process, we're

         16  not there yet, but in some number of years it would

         17  seem almost irresponsible that we haven't put the

         18  resources into a scientific investigation to figure

         19  what's going on here considering what's at stake,

         20  that we have a National Park Service Unit, the only

         21  one in New York City, that's eroding away into the

         22  sea and we haven't put the scientific wherewithal

         23  into figuring out exactly what the problem is and

         24  how to solve it.  And then consistent with that,

         25  create a task force with representatives of all
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          2  levels of government, everyone who really has a

          3  stake in this and is able to do something, a task

          4  force that is charged with working together,

          5  figuring out what needs to be done and ensuring it

          6  gets done.

          7                 Finally, nitrogen  --  It is a

          8  possible cause.  It has all these other problems.

          9  It's the leading water quality problem in the Bay

         10  causing low dissolved oxygen levels.

         11                 DEP represented that dissolved oxygen

         12  levels throughout the Bay were below the water

         13  quality standard.  What was being referred to were

         14  average dissolved oxygen levels throughout the Bay.

         15  So incorporating the high winter dissolved oxygen

         16  levels which really irrelevant to that measure  --

         17  If you look at summer dissolved oxygen levels, and

         18  you look at many parts of the Bay, there is a

         19  dissolved oxygen problem.  You have dissolved oxygen

         20  that is less than the standard meaning not in

         21  compliance with the relevant standard.  It's

         22  responsible for algae blooms, poor water quality, et

         23  cetera, and it may be responsible for this horrible

         24  problem of marsh loss.  So it deserves  --  and we

         25  know what to do.
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          2                 I will say that I want to touch upon

          3  the testimony we heard from DEP as to what they are

          4  contemplating in terms of some treatment for

          5  nitrogen because it deserves a response because it

          6  is heartening.  I think it shows a recognition and a

          7  profound and important recognition on the part of

          8  the agency that this is a problem that deserves a

          9  significant response.  That's important and that's a

         10  change, and it shouldn't be underestimated how

         11  important that is.  We've got a lot of players that

         12  need to be involved in the state level.  We've heard

         13  very little about the details of this proposal and

         14  it's likely the DEP itself is still trying to work

         15  it out, but I take it at its word.  I take the

         16  agency at its word that they are talking about a

         17  significant reduction in nitrogen discharges.

         18                 It's also heartening to hear that one

         19  aspect of the proposal is that it would happen

         20  quickly, and the nature of the type of improvements

         21  that they're talking about is such, that they could

         22  be implemented relatively quickly.  That is

         23  important given the nature of the problem.

         24                 It is still important that the

         25  nitrogen solution is commensurate with what the
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          2  problem needs meaning the science should drive, what

          3  the Bay needs should drive how much treatment it

          4  gets, and they we figure out how to pay for it.  It

          5  shouldn't be a solution that's driven by let's see

          6  what money we can scrape together, see what sort of

          7  treatment that gets you and then hopefully it's good

          8  enough for the Bay.  It needs to be engineered with

          9  the Bay water quality ecological integrity at the

         10  front end.

         11                 We are very anxious to hear more.  We

         12  anticipate hearing more from DEP, and we would guess

         13  that they will have the Council involved, and the

         14  public involved and State agencies such as DEC

         15  involved.  So we're eager to have those meetings and

         16  to hear more.

         17                 I want to touch, in closing, just

         18  upon the one issue that came up as to how to

         19  integrate, at this point, the Advisory Committee's

         20  input into the plan considering we were dissatisfied

         21  with the draft plan that was released on March 1st.

         22  In the singular, but quite important aspect, in that

         23  it wasn't the plan that lacked a lot of the

         24  implementation stuff, it was very comprehensive, but

         25  it didn't have the implementation details that one
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          2  wanted and needed in a plan to adequately comment on

          3  it.

          4                 It's my understanding that we have

          5  generally worked out this process that was spoken of

          6  where the plan would come out on October 1st, and

          7  then we would take 30 days to look at it more

          8  closely and provide our response, our additional

          9  comments, and then there would be another 30 or so

         10  days after that which DEP would then prepare and

         11  submit their response to our comments along with our

         12  comments I guess to the public, to the Council and

         13  to the Mayor.  That's a process that would seem to

         14  meet the needs of the situation, and we're happy

         15  that that's the way it's going.

         16                 So thank you, again.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Brad, thank you

         18  very much for all your hard work.  I know you and

         19  Peter Wasparin (phonetic) were burning up the phone

         20  lines there many, many times.  I appreciate you

         21  doing such a dutiful job as chairman and I look

         22  forward to your work product after you get the

         23  final.  What I'll do is reserve questions or

         24  comments until the whole panel has spoken, but thank

         25  you.  Thank you for your testimony.
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          2                 Dr. Swanson, I've know Dr. Swanson

          3  for longer than, I guess, anybody who has appeared

          4  before this Committee, I think. Now I'm going back

          5  to my college years in what I refer to as the misty

          6  past.  Anyway, we won't elaborate on that, but Dr.

          7  Swanson, thanks for being here.  I appreciate all of

          8  your efforts.

          9                 DR. SWANSON: Well it's a pleasure to

         10  be here.  I must say that at Stony Brook more and

         11  more people seem to be coming to me as the school

         12  historian, which I'm not sure that I like, but I

         13  guess it's something I can't avoid.

         14                 I'd just like to make it clear that I

         15  am a member of the Jamaica Bay Watershed Protection

         16  Plan Advisory Committee, and I thoroughly endorse

         17  what the plan has said.  I will speak about a couple

         18  of different things.  The Jamaica Bay Watershed

         19  Advisory Committee, however, has not had the

         20  opportunity to endorse what I say, so they might

         21  totally disagree with it, and I'll find out later.

         22                 One of the things that I just would

         23  like to mention that Brad mentioned was this notion

         24  of synergism.  Can I just point out for example that

         25  the physical alterations contribute to the changing
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          2  of the Bay's hydrodynamics leading to altered

          3  distribution and timing of sediment and water

          4  discharge throughout the Bay. That, in turn, changes

          5  the flushing characteristics.  I think it's clear to

          6  say that in this case the result has been that there

          7  is an increase pollution susceptibility within

          8  Jamaica Bay.

          9                 With regard to the later, there's

         10  this renewed concern that nutrients, and

         11  specifically nitrogen, create toxic conditions for

         12  the roots and rhizomes of Spartina alternaflora,

         13  which is the predominant marsh grass of the Bay's

         14  marsh islands.

         15                 I'm going to elaborate on just two

         16  things.  One is some aspects of altered

         17  hydrodynamics which have not been really discussed

         18  very much in the past, and also the complexity

         19  associated with reducing nitrogen loading to the Bay

         20  via the water pollution control plants.

         21                 Regional mean sea level rise, leading

         22  to increased marsh flooding, has been identified as

         23  a potential contributor to marsh loss in the Bay.

         24  The rate of rise at the Battery, almost where we're

         25  sitting, is about .9 feet per century.  However,
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          2  regional mean sea level rise has been experienced

          3  all around Long Island where marsh loss has not been

          4  nearly as extensive.  If marsh flooding from

          5  regional mean sea level rise is contributing to

          6  marsh loss, it can't be the sole cause.  Other

          7  processes, for example, sediment starvation, must be

          8  at work as well, and so they are. Reconfiguring the

          9  Bay with fill, dredged pits and channels, hardened

         10  shorelines have changed the circulation in the Bay

         11  and altered its tidal hydrodynamics.

         12                 At the turn of the 20th century, the

         13  mean tidal range  --  that's the difference between

         14  mean high water and mean low water  --  was nearly

         15  uniform throughout Jamaica Bay.  However, between

         16  1899 and 1940, the mean range at Canarsie and Norton

         17  Point increased by one foot and 1.6 feet,

         18  respectively.  You can see a figure of that in the

         19  testimony.  Roughly 50 percent of that increase was

         20  in the height of high waters.  The remainder, of

         21  course, was lowering low water, and the increases in

         22  spring tide ranges was even greater, perhaps 20

         23  percent greater.

         24                 Thus, combining the increase in tide

         25  ranges throughout the Bay with the rise and mean sea
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          2  level, the height of the mean high tide water column

          3  over the marshes is now some 1.4 to 1.5 feet greater

          4  than it was in 1900, about the time the major

          5  alterations to the Bay commenced.  So that these

          6  total increases are roughly 44 to 67 percent greater

          7  than that just due to regional mean sea level rise

          8  alone.

          9                 If these changes took place in the

         10  first half of the century, the question is often

         11  asked why didn't we see the consequences earlier.

         12  One reason may be that with all the radical

         13  anthropogenic changes in the Bay's morphology, no

         14  one noticed. Mapping- quality aerial photography was

         15  not really available until the 1930's, and a time

         16  series of traditional topographic surveys was not

         17  undertaken.  We probably didn't look, and certainly

         18  it was not the mapping agency's responsibility to

         19  try to determine what the changes in topography

         20  might have been had they mapped them.

         21                 Another reason may be that there is a

         22  lag in the increases in marsh flooding and the

         23  consequences of such flooding. Regional mean sea

         24  level rise was not as great in the first four

         25  decades of the 20th century as it was in the last
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          2  six.  Clearly we don't understand the causes and

          3  effects very well.

          4                 Now moving on to nitrogen, I was

          5  pleased to hear Commissioner Licata's commitment to

          6  nitrogen reduction at the Jamaica Bay and the 26th

          7  Ward plant, but I'd like to emphasize it is very

          8  important for the reductions, in my opinion, to take

          9  place at the plant and not to just adopt a policy of

         10  diverting nitrogen to another location.

         11                 For example, HydroQual, which is a

         12  consultant to DEP, showed that the best, and perhaps

         13  the cheapest, solution to hypoxia in the Bay and,

         14  now by inference, wetland loss, was to construct an

         15  ocean outfall south of Rockaway Beach.  This is

         16  probably correct when considering Jamaica Bay in

         17  isolation. However, if a sewage outfall is

         18  constructed south of Rockaway Peninsula so that it

         19  discharges into New York State waters, the sewage

         20  effluent will preferentially be transported into the

         21  harbor and some returned to the Bay.

         22                 In one of the figures, figure two of

         23  this testimony, it shows the typical salinity

         24  distribution across the Sandy Hook Rockaway transect

         25  at both low and high flow river conditions.  The
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          2  salinity is high, about 29 to 30 parts per thousand,

          3  on the New York side of the transect, and it's about

          4  two to seven parts per thousand less on the New

          5  Jersey side.  This indicates that the ocean water

          6  tends to flow into the harbor on the New York side

          7  of that transect and the Hudson River water flows

          8  out on the Jersey side.  This particular flow is a

          9  consequence of the Earth's rotation.

         10                 In the remaining figure, there is

         11  another way to look at that, and that's the

         12  difference in the flow structure. That figure

         13  illustrates the non- tidal, or the net flow, into

         14  and out of the harbor.  The negative numbers in the

         15  figure represent flow on the New York side that's

         16  going into the transect.  The positive numbers are

         17  the flows out of the harbor.  Once again, they

         18  indicate that the flow is out on the New Jersey side

         19  averaged over longer periods of times.

         20                 It is clear that while an ocean

         21  outfall could relieve the problem of the Bay, it

         22  won't be an overall benefit to the harbor.  It took

         23  decades to end the practice of ocean dumping of

         24  sewage sludge, and 20 years later it was closed.

         25  The 150-square-mile area that is closed to
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          2  shellfishing and extends to Rockaway Beach still has

          3  not been reopened.  So my concern is that we not

          4  exacerbate that kind of problem and further

          5  pollution problems of New York Harbor by discharging

          6  sewage effluent from Jamaica Bay just outside the

          7  Bay into the Atlantic Ocean.

          8                 It's important to protect and

          9  preserve and rebuild our marsh islands in Jamaica

         10  Bay, but how we do it must be considered in the

         11  context of unintended consequences.  Let's now work

         12  to eliminate, not redistribute, pollutants such as

         13  nitrogen and combined sewer discharges.  Now is the

         14  time to seriously consider embarking on a

         15  significant program of marsh island rehabilitation

         16  using the remnants of the existing islands as a

         17  platform.

         18                 I'd just like to say if you ever hear

         19  the debates that are going on over the problems with

         20  Hurricane Katrina, one of the things that's more and

         21  more evident is the discussion of just how important

         22  the loss of those wetlands were in the devastation

         23  of that city.  It's extremely important that we try

         24  to maintain and try to rehabilitate, rebuild,

         25  whatever, the marsh grasses in order that the
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          2  terrestrial environment that has built up around

          3  Jamaica Bay in fact eventually doesn't get destroyed

          4  itself.

          5                 I thank you for your time, and glad

          6  to answer questions when appropriate.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.  Thank

          8  you, Dr. Swanson. I really appreciate your

          9  testimony.  I certainly miss my days at Stony Brook.

         10    I envy you.  You get to do this all the time.

         11  Thank you.  Thank you, Dr. Swanson.

         12                 Dan, what do you got for us today?  I

         13  got your  --

         14                 MR. MUNDY: Good afternoon.  My name

         15  is Dan Mundy, and I'm here to give testimony as

         16  Chairperson of Community Board No. 14's

         17  Environmental Committee, as a member of the Jamaica

         18  Bay Ecowatchers and as a member of the Jamaica Bay

         19  Watershed Protection Plan Advisory Committee before

         20  this Council Committee on Environmental Protection.

         21                 Mr. Chairman, and members of the

         22  Committee, once again, I thank you for the

         23  opportunity to testify on these very important

         24  issues affecting Jamaica Bay.  As I said, my name is

         25  Dan Mundy, and I'm the founder of the Jamaica Bay
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          2  Ecowatchers.  It's an environmental group whose

          3  mission is to preserve, protect, enhance and restore

          4  the ecosystem of Jamaica Bay.

          5                 In 1995 and '96, we first noticed

          6  that something was wrong with the salt water marshes

          7  in Jamaica Bay.  After consulting with friends of

          8  mine and forming our environmental group, we

          9  studied, documented and presented our findings at

         10  various meetings and to agencies and elected

         11  officials.  We finally petitioned the National Park

         12  Service through the Jamaica Bay Task force to have a

         13  Blue Ribbon Panel address this emergency.  Since

         14  then, we have lobbied for appropriations and

         15  educated the general public through speaking

         16  engagements and the media.  This has resulted in

         17  State and City hearings, studies, pilot restoration

         18  projects, one which is finished and successful,

         19  another in progress and others which are in the

         20  pipeline.

         21                 This is where we are now.  Here are

         22  some statistics that were mentioned earlier, but I'd

         23  like to restate them for the record.  From 1857 to

         24  1924, there were approximately 3,300 acres of marsh

         25  islands with an annual change of plus or minus ten
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          2  acres.  So basically, there was no net loss during

          3  that period of time.  For the next 50 years, from

          4  1924 to 1974, we only lost approximately ten acres a

          5  year, which was probably due mostly to erosion on

          6  the edges.  For the next 20 years, from 1974 to

          7  1994, we lost approximately 20 to 25 acres per year,

          8  but then in the next five years from 1994 to 1999,

          9  we lost an average of 44 acres a year.  So there you

         10  can see the drastic change.

         11                 These are statistics from the New

         12  York State DEC, and at that time, they predicted all

         13  the marsh islands, except for one, JoCo Marsh, would

         14  be gone by 2024.  So at that time we thought we had

         15  a little bit of extra time to solve the Bay's

         16  problems being that we thought we had until 2024,

         17  but things are now changed.

         18                 The loss of these marshes will have a

         19  tremendous impact on the Bay's ecosystem as well as

         20  the shoreline infrastructure of the Bay.  Getting

         21  here today, I took the Independent A line, and the

         22  high water line now is within 25 feet of the subway

         23  line.  The next major hurricane will wipe out the

         24  infrastructure of the Independent line going to the

         25  Rockaways.  The Belt Parkway, which many of you
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          2  drive on, the high water line is also within 20 to

          3  25 feet of the Belt Parkway.  The next major

          4  hurricane will wipe out the Shore Parkway as it goes

          5  between Howard Beach and Pennsylvania Avenue, and

          6  along that line, that Belt Parkway, there is

          7  infrastructure.  There are sewer lines that are

          8  pumping sewage from Coney Island to the 26th Ward

          9  and from the Jamaica plant to the 26th Ward.  That,

         10  and other water lines, would be wiped out in the

         11  next hurricane if something isn't done to protect

         12  that.

         13                 It's all got to do with the loss of

         14  the marshes because at one time those marshes were

         15  the buffer that extended out past the subway line.

         16  It extended out 1,000 feet and now it's 15 to 25

         17  feet, and along the Belt Parkway, it extended out

         18  another couple of hundred feet, but they're now

         19  gone.  So there is no protection there at this time.

         20                 Jamaica Bay is an embayment of

         21  wetlands created by the Rockaway barrier beach and

         22  formed within the last 2,000 years as the post-

         23  glacial rise in sea level slowed.  The marshes of

         24  the Bay are the oldest, largest living, continuously

         25  growing organism in the North East and date back
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          2  over thousands of years.  They are an outstanding

          3  example of wetlands with ecological, recreational

          4  and aesthetic values not found in such an urban area

          5  setting anywhere else in the United States.

          6                 Jamaica Bay has been characterized as

          7  New York's urban Chesapeake, and is generally

          8  regarded as one of North America's most important

          9  estuary resources for migratory birds. Over 350 bird

         10  species have been recorded here, and it annually

         11  serves one- fifth of all the North American bird

         12  species.  It also supports 48 species of fish,

         13  numerous shellfish and invertebrates. In addition,

         14  it possesses important upland meadows, shrublands

         15  and some fragments of a coastal forest.

         16                 Salt marshes act as living filters

         17  where pollutants are contained, diluted or

         18  stabilized as tide water and storm water flush

         19  through the marsh grass.  Inter- tidal marshes of

         20  the Bay are also ecological systems with some of the

         21  highest biological productivity on the Earth, right

         22  up there with the rain forests and the oceans.

         23  Nutrients are stored and recycled within them to

         24  provide the foundation of the estuarine food chain.

         25  The dead leaves and stems of marsh plants enter the
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          2  water and are broken down by bacteria and become the

          3  food for fiddler crabs, worms, snails, finfish and

          4  shellfish.  The marshes provide nesting, feeding and

          5  refuge areas for shore birds and wildlife

          6  communities. They store flood water.  They stabilize

          7  shore lines, and they act as buffers against wave

          8  energy.  I think you can all see what their

          9  significance offers to us.

         10                 Since our group first identified the

         11  marsh loss problem over ten years ago, much has been

         12  done, but we cannot stop here.  There is much more

         13  to be accomplished and that is why I am here today.

         14                 On November 8th, 2002, I testified

         15  before this Committee about the need to reduce

         16  nitrogen load from the wastewater pollution plants

         17  discharging into Jamaica Bay.  That was Resolution

         18  830 and was sent to the New York State DEC in

         19  support of that.

         20                 On March 21st, 2005, I testified to

         21  support Intro. No. 565 to develop a watershed

         22  protection plan for the watershed/sewershed of

         23  Jamaica Bay.  This resulted in the passage of Local

         24  Law 71 which created an Advisory Committee that

         25  consists of seven members which was given a task of
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          2  helping the New York City DEP develop a watershed

          3  protection plan for Jamaica Bay.  I was appointed to

          4  that committee by the Speaker of the Council, and we

          5  have been diligently working on that plan.

          6                 On August 2nd, 2007, the Advisory

          7  Committee released its findings which shows a

          8  greatly accelerated rate of marsh loss much worse

          9  than was previously predicted by the DEC in 2001.

         10  These most recent findings indicated the marsh

         11  islands could disappear by 2012.

         12                 Many theories have been put forth

         13  concerning the cause of loss of marsh in the marsh

         14  islands of the Bay.  Through studies and

         15  observations, most of these have been eliminated.

         16  The most probable cause, in my opinion, is the high

         17  amounts of nitrogen being discharged from the New

         18  York City DEP wastewater treatment plants and CSO's.

         19                 When federal law prevented the

         20  dumping of sludge into the ocean in the early

         21  1990's, the DEP began to process this sludge to a

         22  de- watering system.  This resulted in producing a

         23  liquid called Centrate which is very high in

         24  nitrogen.  This is the nitrogen that normally would

         25  have been dumped into the ocean, but was stopped
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          2  because of the Act.  This Centrate was recycled

          3  through the treatment process, but there was nothing

          4  in place, at that time, to reduce the nitrogen.

          5  This resulted in total daily loads of nitrogen to

          6  reach amounts of 55,000 to 57,000 pounds a day over

          7  previous daily loads of 30,000 to 35,000 pounds per

          8  day.  This was the same time that we noticed the

          9  beginning of marsh loss.

         10                 When we saw this correlation and

         11  brought it to the attention of DEP, we were told

         12  that this excess nitrogen would not effect marsh

         13  growth.  Now, years later, a study has been

         14  conducted, which in my opinion supports the

         15  Ecowatchers theory that excess nitrogen is the

         16  leading cause of marsh loss in Jamaica Bay.

         17                 Dr. Alex Kolker of Stony Brook's

         18  Marine Science Research Center, working on a grant

         19  funded by the National Park Service, has made a

         20  connection between a high amount of nutrient inputs

         21  into the Bay and loss of marsh islands.  These

         22  nutrients convert through decomposition into

         23  sulfide.  These high concentrations of sulfide lead

         24  to marsh degration and loss of peat structure which

         25  cause a lowered elevation of the marsh surface and
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          2  eventually converge into to a mud flat.

          3                 Dr. Kolker's calculations confirmed

          4  that marsh accretion in Jamaica Bay was sufficient

          5  to keep pace with sea level.  So I can eliminate

          6  that as a cause.  After studying marsh inventories

          7  in Jamaica Bay, and all of Long Island Sound, he

          8  concluded that the marsh loss in Jamaica Bay was

          9  excessive and seemed to coincide with population

         10  density.

         11                 Further studies showed that although

         12  there was some marsh loss between 1970 and 1990,

         13  this loss greatly accelerated in the 90's when the

         14  DEP, mandated by federal law, had to process

         15  additional sludge in its Jamaica Bay plants.  This

         16  caused an increase in nitrogen inputs into the

         17  waters of Jamaica Bay causing additional algae

         18  blooms and eutrophication.  Eutrophication is when a

         19  body of water becomes rich in dissolved nutrients

         20  and causing the growth of oxygen depleting plant

         21  life.  This then, in turn, harms the other organisms

         22  of the Bay.  High concentrations of nitrogen

         23  decrease the ability of the salt marsh to cope with

         24  toxic sulfides thus aggravating the problems caused

         25  by eutrophication.  Core samples taken by Dr. Kolker
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          2  in degraded areas of the marsh showed that sulfide

          3  concentrations were far above the limits of plant

          4  survival.

          5                 This study leads us to believe that

          6  the single most important possible solution to off-

          7  set marsh loss is to immediately prepare to retro

          8  fit the 26th Ward and the Jamaica Bay plants to

          9  achieve level three technology by 2012.  This must

         10  be done in addition to the present and future

         11  planning for marsh restorations.

         12                 We applaud the efforts of the City

         13  Council, under the chair of Jim Gennaro and all his

         14  members in the Environmental Committee, and

         15  appreciate the opportunity to share my views with

         16  you.  I hope that these recommendations and those of

         17  the Advisory Committee will be included in the DEP's

         18  plan which is due on October 1st, 2007.

         19                 Deputy Commissioner Licata's

         20  statements are promising, but I am withholding any

         21  forward comments until I see DEP's final report.

         22  Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Dan.

         24  Thanks for all your work.  Thanks for getting the

         25  ball rolling way back when no one knew anything, and
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          2  also for being there and being willing to take my

          3  calls when I have problems with my outboard.  Dan is

          4  a good guy to know if some sensor is going off in

          5  your outboard and you don't know what it means.  Dan

          6  knows what it means, and he tells you to relax

          7  first.  You know people have to tell me to do that.

          8  But thank you, Dan, for that.

          9                 I've got some general items on

         10  process and on substance.  Let's start with process

         11  first because I tried to do a good thing by giving

         12  birth to the Advisory Committee, and certainly I

         13  think it's important that the Advisory Committee

         14  produce the sort of maximum value added that they

         15  possibly can.

         16                 I know Brad you spoke in your

         17  comments that the template for moving forward which

         18  has been put forward by them sounds like it's going

         19  to kind of work for you guys.  Is that a fair way

         20  for me to interpret that?

         21                 I mean we can't go back and change

         22  the past.  I go back to March of 2007 and have them

         23  put together a more comprehensive plan than what

         24  they did, but from September 6th, 2007 going

         25  forward, are we in a place where we need to be
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          2  process- wise?

          3                 MR. SEWELL: I think the view of the

          4  committee is that we're in a reasonable place.  I

          5  mean I think you've touched on the one issue that

          6  won't be part of this process and that would be

          7  actually some formal obligation to actually modify

          8  the plan immediately as part of this give and take,

          9  but no process is perfect, and this seems like a

         10  reasonable response.  I think that what this does

         11  though is it does put some additional pressure on

         12  those who will continue to be involved in this

         13  process next year when  --  I believe it is next

         14  year there is a report that's due. There is a

         15  reporting obligation.  I now may be mixed on exactly

         16  when it happens.  We've been reporting on the

         17  success of the plan --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, I see.

         19                 MR. SEWELL:  --  And then any

         20  recommendations for change in the plan, and then the

         21  plan gets changed.  The plan is an process, and what

         22  this will do is put some additional pressure on that

         23  first iteration of reporting and the obligation to

         24  modify the plan accordingly.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  With this
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          2  episode behind us, we'll be more assiduous in making

          3  sure that we got our squeeze of the orange at that

          4  point.  So we'll let the past form the future a

          5  little bit, and make sure that we can use the past

          6  experience to not get caught short and get the kind

          7  of product that we're looking for out the outset.

          8                 MR. SEWELL: We really appreciate the

          9  Council and the Committee and your personal effort

         10  in this regard to ensure that the law was followed

         11  through as intended.  I think it really made the

         12  difference the best possible result, where we are

         13  now, and in the next few months.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.  Well it

         15  gave me the opportunity to yell a little bit over

         16  the phone, and I really enjoy doing that.  So that's

         17  great.  That's great.

         18                 On substance, I know they are going

         19  to have some kind of announcement in the plan.  You

         20  guys will find out before hand.  When you meet with

         21  them, they are going to have some kind of

         22  announcement regarding nitrogen reduction, and,

         23  again, we don't know what that's going to be yet.

         24  Right?  We're just going  -- That's where a lot of

         25  attention certainly has been focused.
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          2                 I noticed, Larry, in your testimony,

          3  you were also very supportive of the nitrogen

          4  controls being moved up, and making sure that those

          5  happen, and those happen in a big way, and also not

          6  to disburse this be sending it out the outfall and

          7  making the nitrogen someone else's problem.  From a

          8  scientific perspective, we're all looking for the

          9  smoking gun, a direct linkage between nitrogen and

         10  marsh loss, and people are drawing inferences about

         11  how strong that correlation is.  From your

         12  perspective, how do you see that?  How so you see

         13  the connection between nitrogen loading in the Bay

         14  and marsh loss?  What's your sort of thumbnail

         15  sketch for that dynamic?

         16                 DR. SWANSON: Well I think Dr.

         17  Kolker's work  --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: He's a colleague

         19  of yours, I take it.

         20                 DR. SWANSON: Yes, I was on his

         21  committee.  So in a way, I've endorsed it already.

         22  I think he's raised an interesting issue.  I'm not

         23  sure that's the smoking gun, but certainly I think

         24  it's probably a piece of the entirety of the complex

         25  issue of what's causing marsh loss.  I firmly
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          2  believe that the reconfiguring of Jamaica Bay has

          3  caused problems in the past, and contributed to it

          4  in changing the hydrodynamics.  I certainly think

          5  that opening up the area to increased physical

          6  forces from navigation has had a role in it, but I

          7  certainly think this chemical connection is a very

          8  important theory, one that we should continue to

          9  look at seriously, and, in all likelihood, is

         10  playing a very significant role in the overall

         11  scheme of things.

         12                 From the marsh loss point of view, I

         13  think we're hitting on something now, but I think

         14  even if that's not, the hypoxia issue in Jamaica Bay

         15  is a good enough reason to go after nitrogen as

         16  well.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure because

         18  there are so many other benefits that you get from

         19  reducing nitrogen.  So won't we don't have as

         20  certain now is what the actual correlation, or what

         21  the linkage is.  There is some linkage, but to what

         22  extent is it a causal factor?  There is some

         23  causation there.  It's just that the exact co-

         24  efficient of causation, or whatever, is really what

         25  we don't have for the nitrogen.  I guess that's a
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          2  fair way to put it as any.  So that coefficient is

          3  whatever it is, and over and above that, there are

          4  other good reasons for cutting down on nitrogen that

          5  will yield benefits.  So I think we're all of the

          6  same mind on that, and that's all good.

          7                 Council Member Eugene, thank you for

          8  coming.

          9                 You have this meeting all set up?

         10  You're going to be meeting with these guys, and

         11  you're going to get the download from them, and a

         12  briefing?  So you're all squared away with when it's

         13  going to happen and the process and all that?

         14                 MR. SEWELL: Yes, we're squared away

         15  on a date and a location.  Exactly how the briefing

         16  will go, we'll let you know.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.  Now where

         18  I come in is that  --  Let me know how I can be of

         19  help.  You know you guys are going to hear before me

         20  what's going on.  I certainly want to be as

         21  supportive as I can be of your efforts.  That's why

         22  I thought it would be a good idea to create the

         23  Advisory Committee.  So any way that I can partner

         24  with you to sort of further what you think should be

         25  in that plan, but perhaps is not, you have me and my
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          2  office and my resources at your disposal.  So we can

          3  work together to put forward the Advisory

          4  Committee's vision.  That's my statement to you

          5  today, and I just thank you for all of your great

          6  work and appreciate your being here today.

          7                 MR. MUNDY: Jim, just one last

          8  comment, please.  I'd like to let you know my

          9  feelings about the connection between the nitrogen

         10  and marsh loss are much stronger than some of my

         11  colleagues here.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         13                 MR. MUNDY: And that's the feeling of

         14  the Jamaica Bay Ecowatchers who are out there 24/7

         15  looking at this thing.  We feel that this is the

         16  closest thing to the smoking gun that you're ever

         17  going to get, and I predict that in the future when

         18  we reduce nitrogen, if we reduce it to levels of

         19  about 20,000 pounds a day, that you're not only

         20  going to see the water quality of Jamaica Bay clear

         21  up so that we could put oysters and other things

         22  that were there in the past, but you're also going

         23  to see that the loss of marshes is going to stop and

         24  they're going to be stymied.  That's my prediction,

         25  and I hope that I can come before this Committee in
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          2  a couple of years from now and say that I correct.

          3  I just want to let you know that it's very strong

          4  feelings about the nitrogen.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

          6                 MR. MUNDY: I see it out there, and

          7  I've lived with it and, to me, it's a direct

          8  correlation.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  Thank

         10  you, Dan.  That raises an interesting possibility,

         11  Brad, with regard to the Advisory Committee.  The

         12  Advisory Committee is one unit, one entity.  Each

         13  member of the Advisory Committee may have different

         14  things that they wish to emphasize, different things

         15  that they wish to be included or whatever.  To what

         16  extent is there a possibility that there might be

         17  some minority report within the Advisory Committee?

         18  Is this a situation that could happen?  I guess the

         19  whole idea to the extent that the Advisory Committee

         20  could speak with one voice and that gives a certain

         21  cohesiveness and a certain unanimity that everyone

         22  is speaking together in one voice means something.

         23  The prospect of a minority report or something like

         24  that has its own dimensions to it.  What are your

         25  thoughts on that?
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          2                 MR. SEWELL: I think that you've, as

          3  one would guess quite accurately, summarized the

          4  spirit of how we've tried to go about putting this

          5  together, and that's to strive very hard for

          6  consensus.  We actually have had the occasion in our

          7  prior reports, including in the final

          8  recommendations that we put out in June, to have a

          9  minority statement.  It was in the nature of a

         10  minority statement concerning a specific issue, or

         11  specific item.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         13                 MR. SEWELL: So it wasn't a full

         14  separate report.  It was usually footnoted on the

         15  page or something like that.  So that has occurred

         16  in the past.  It may occur in the future.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  All

         18  right.  So there's precedent for that, and there you

         19  have it.

         20                 Thanks a lot.  I appreciate your all

         21  being here.

         22                 MR. MUNDY: Thank you.

         23                 MR. SEWELL: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: We have some

         25  very diligent Council Members.  We have Council
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          2  Member White, who is on vacation, and not in town,

          3  call into the Committee to let us know that he's not

          4  in town, which is why he's not here.  There was no

          5  need for him to call, but he is a dedicated member

          6  of this Committee, and I appreciate his taking time

          7  from his rest and relaxation to be concerned with

          8  matters of the Committee.  So I just wanted to say

          9  that on the record for his benefit.

         10                 We're going to have a final panel,

         11  Eugenia Flaton of Coalition for the Bight, Dan

         12  Hendrick, who is with the League of Conservation

         13  Voters  --  just came to the League recently  --

         14  and my good friend, Paul Mankiewicz of the Gaia

         15  Institute.

         16                 Okay, Genie, we're going to be doing

         17  ladies first here.  What's that now?  You've got to

         18  talk into the microphone. You're not even on the

         19  record now.

         20                 MS. FLATOW: I always get stuck

         21  because you always use the thing of going first, and

         22  I don't want to go first.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: You don't want

         24  to go first?

         25                 MS. FLATOW: No.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Well then we're

          3  going to do ladies prerogative then instead of

          4  ladies first.  So we'll do ladies prerogative.  You

          5  know I'm working here.  I'm trying to go with it.

          6  Who would you like to go first?

          7                 MS. FLATOW: I'm not going to get into

          8  that one.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I tell you what

         10   --

         11                 MS. FLATOW: I filed a statement with

         12  you which I'm not going to read totally, but I

         13  wonder if there is anyone in the room who remembers

         14  when Bob Wagner was Mayor of this City of New York

         15  because my trying to save Jamaica Bay goes back to

         16  then.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I see.

         18                 MS. FLATOW: And I wonder how many

         19  people remember that Carol Ash (phonetic), when she

         20  was the Regional Director of the State Department of

         21  Environmental Conservation, designated Jamaica Bay

         22  as a critical environmental area soon forgotten.

         23                 It seems to me that on the side of

         24  what we've been listening to today, we've been

         25  making progress.  How we get to use that and to do
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          2  it appropriately and to make sure that the Mayor,

          3  who seems to be very interested in planning,

          4  understands how important this Bay is to the people

          5  who live there, to the people who believe in what

          6  has happened, and when I listen to people like Lenny

          7  tell us about getting consensus on what he's been

          8  doing for the Bay, that's really progress because we

          9  have always had a hard time getting local

         10  leadership, which I think Dan portrays very

         11  effectively, technical leadership, which NRDC shares

         12  with us, and agency leadership of working together,

         13  which is critically important.

         14                 I think what we have to do now is to

         15  really devote ourselves to something like a 197A, or

         16  some process, which mandates that things that happen

         17  in this Bay have to be scrutinized very, very

         18  carefully before they are accepted.  The person who

         19  said let's not say this is how much money we have,

         20  this is what we're going to do with it.  Let's say

         21  this is what we much do and we must find the money

         22  to do it and the leadership to do it, and I worry

         23  very much about two years from now when there will

         24  be different leadership that we may forget how much

         25  time we spent here trying to make it work.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: That's two and a

          3  half years, but you know who's counting?

          4                 MS. FLATOW: Thank you for the

          5  opportunity.  I think the Committee has done

          6  fantastic work.  I think the agency has, and I

          7  appreciate it, but we must get a process that makes

          8  decisions on the Bay, that wants to widen the

          9  streets, that wants to put in more big box stores,

         10  who wants to put the trucks on the highways where

         11  they don't belong.  We have to find a way to cope

         12  with that too.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         14  Genie.  I appreciate it.  Thanks so much for being

         15  here.

         16                 Paul.

         17                 MR. MANKIEWICZ: I will say just a

         18  couple of very simple  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Just state your

         20  name for the record, Paul.

         21                 MR. MANKIEWICZ: Paul, Paul Mankiewicz

         22  from the Gaia Institute and New York City Sewer and

         23  Water Conservation District. Some very simple

         24  rubrics.  One is there were 30 creeks feeding into

         25  Jamaica Bay just a hundred years ago and they  --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:   --  30 what?

          3                 MR. MANKIEWICZ:   --  30 creeks  --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, 30 creeks.

          5                 MR. MANKIEWICZ: Thirty waterbodies

          6  draining the 70 square miles or so of upland

          7  watershed.  There is none now that are not in pipes.

          8    So the sediment budget, as Larry Swanson

          9  indicated, is non- existent by comparison to what it

         10  was.  That being said, my colleague, Ed Garbish

         11  (phonetic), at Environmental Concern  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: That would lead

         13  to a lot of erosion.

         14                 MR. MANKIEWICZ: Basically, it used to

         15  be that large storms mobilize huge amounts of

         16  material that were then incorporated into salt

         17  marshes.  That can't happen anymore because of the

         18  way we've changed to coastline altogether.  But I,

         19  as you probably know, I like to put physical and

         20  chemical thinking together and even with a greatly

         21  diminished sediment budget, it's critical to

         22  understand that 30,000 pounds per day is a huge

         23  amount of nitrogen.  My colleague, Ed Garbish, at

         24  Environmental Concern, one of the first people to

         25  build salt marshes on a large scale in the
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          2  Chesapeake, tried to grow salt marsh grass in

          3  treated wastewater and found that the root growth

          4  was so diminished that it was a worthless medium for

          5  plant growth.  It's been known for at least the time

          6  I was in graduate school and before, 40 plus years,

          7  that nitrogen inhibits root growth and there's much

          8  more investment in above grade structure supporting

          9  Dan Mundy's contention.  I'm not sure exactly how

         10  that plays out.  I'm going to wager sediment budget

         11  has some kind of metric in there as well.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Aren't there

         13  things that people put in to enhance root growth

         14  like phosphorus, or whatever?

         15                 MR. MANKIEWICZ: Potassium is down

         16  there.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I'm just

         18  thinking about basic gardening.  Right?

         19                 MR. MANKIEWICZ: That's right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: People put like

         21  phosphorus in the soil and that's supposed to

         22  enhance roots.

         23                 MR. MANKIEWICZ: Phosphorus is

         24  somewhat for the roots, strong on flowering and seed

         25  production.  Potassium is actually more on the root
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          2  production side, and, of course, it's somewhat

          3  different in an estuary altogether, but we're still

          4  looking at a flowering plant that behaving like

          5  plants altogether and we shouldn't forget the

          6  classic literature altogether.

          7                 So four wastewater treatment plants

          8  are a problem.

          9                 I have to say there's other kind of

         10  structural approaches.  Again, looking at the

         11  framework Genie's looking at here  --  what can we

         12  get in place that will start to make a big

         13  difference?

         14                 When DEP was pressed against the wall

         15  with water conservation, they basically put in place

         16  a  --  They subsidized a low flush toilet program.

         17  In much of Europe, Holland and Sweden, and the rest,

         18  they actually are looking at ways of separating

         19  urine from the waste stream.  If you were take about

         20  one- half of the urine out of the waste stream, it

         21  would make the wastewater treatment plants

         22  energetically productive because much of the energy

         23  they can make now from their waste is put into

         24  pumping the water to treat the nitrate.  So I have,

         25  and I'll try and e- mail this to you, in my
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          2  testimony here basically there is a Lawton 20th

          3  September, '06, a new scientist and another general

          4  of environmental engineering.  It basically shows

          5  how nitrogen budget is what makes it cost more to

          6  run wastewater treatment plants, and were DEP able

          7  to do something upstream  --  investigating that now

          8   --  they could make a huge difference in what

          9  they're dumping into the water altogether.

         10                 There is another program used in

         11  Finland, Germany, again parts of Holland, and many

         12  parts of the world called bank injection where they

         13  take treated wastewater and put it into below grade

         14  environments.  You get something like a ton and a

         15  half  -- I'm sorry  --  1,500 pounds of nitrate,

         16  nitrogen de- nitrified per acre per year.  So it

         17  would require, for the 30,000 pounds per day,

         18  something like 7,000 acres or 11 square miles of

         19  land to de- nitrify all of the nitrogen coming out

         20  of the wastewater treatment plants. Whether the City

         21  could use something like the below grade environment

         22  underneath the Belt Parkway  --  Basically these

         23  kinds of environments are used in Europe as

         24  treatment scenarios, and whether it would work or

         25  not, it's well worth the investigation.
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          2                 The other side of course is, as the

          3  Deputy Commissioner pointed out, they're looking at

          4  wetland removal. Wetlands can remove someplace

          5  between 40 and 50 pounds of nitrate nitrogen per

          6  year through de- nitrification.  That's a very good

          7  thing altogether.  It would take 340 square miles to

          8  actually get all of the nitrogen load we're putting

          9  in there.  To support Dan's contention, his quantity

         10  more  --  He said 20,000 pounds of nitrate nitrogen

         11  per day might be something to aim at.  Because I'm

         12  saying it's 300 square miles of marsh you would need

         13  to remove the nitrogen load now.  I'm going to say

         14  we should probably be at something like a third of

         15  that.  So I think the target ought to be something

         16  like 10,000 pounds simply because unless the biota

         17  in the estuary controls the quantity, we can't get

         18  there from here.  If it's too much for the biota for

         19  the marshes, marsh grasses, the de nitrifying

         20  bacteria to regulate, it's too much for the Bay, and

         21  that should be an absolute number.  It's not what we

         22  can get at because of the money.  It's because

         23  that's what the Bay can handle.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So there should

         25  be a budget, and there should be like a TMDL is what
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          2  you're saying.

          3                 MR. MANKIEWICZ: Based on the nitrogen

          4  handling capacity of the biota in Jamaica Bay, the

          5  amount of nitrogen that can be removed by the rib

          6  muscles, by the salt marshes, by the de nitrifying

          7  bacteria, and that basically should be the number we

          8  aim at, not some load based  --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Isn't the State

         10  charged at some point with setting total maximum

         11  daily loading of nitrogen for the Bay?  Is that

         12  something that they are required to do?

         13                 MR. MANKIEWICZ: They are.  To date

         14  though they haven't been based necessarily on the

         15  kind of self-regulation at work at hand and showed

         16  basically that there is a certain load that the

         17  biota actually can incorporate and turn back into

         18  the food chain, and that's, I believe, where we need

         19  to head.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.  But is

         21  this something that when people who are in the

         22  business of setting TMDL's actually look at stuff

         23  like that, or  --

         24                 MR. MANKIEWICZ:  --  Have not much to

         25  date.  I'm working on this  --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Have not?

          3                 MR. MANKIEWICZ: No.  I'm working on

          4  this with Raritan Bay, but we ought to do this with

          5  Jamaica Bay.  Jamaica Bay is critical because it's a

          6  self- contained system.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

          8                 MR. MANKIEWICZ: And that the sea

          9  level fluctuation changes, that Professor Swanson

         10  showed, that's critical.  That's a critical piece of

         11  work.  There's a dynamic at work here.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Let me just

         13  mention that with regard to the State DEC wanted to

         14  be here.  They didn't have testimony ready, and I

         15  don't think they are even represented in the --  Oh,

         16  they are represented in the house.  Okay, terrific.

         17  Thank you.  Thank you for being here.  This is a

         18  good conversation for you to hear and take back, but

         19  certainly when the issue of the State setting their

         20  TMDL comes up  --  because I know that we got a call

         21  from Jim Tierney on this.  He's this wonderful guy,

         22  and I'm so glad that he's with DEC.  So I certainly

         23  expect a lot of good things from Jim and DEC, and of

         24  course Suzanne Mattei is there now. That will be

         25  fodder for that discussion a little later on.
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          2                 MR. MANKIEWICZ: So the three major

          3  mechanisms of the plant  --  Photosynthesis  --

          4  That's about 15 pounds per acre. De- nitrification

          5  which is something like 40 to 50 pounds per acre per

          6  year, and the muscle, oyster, clam intake which is

          7  something like a couple hundred pounds to more per

          8  acre per year  --  and of course DEP is looking at

          9  that, and I'm look at that with them  -- basically

         10  how to enhance the sediment suspension densities

         11  around the wastewater treatment plants and in the

         12  Bay altogether. Basically, that will not help you

         13  while you're still throwing in something that's

         14  much, much more than can be handled by the Bay

         15  altogether.  So our aim ought to be something

         16  commensurate with the metric of what the biota

         17  itself can handle.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.  Thank

         19  you.  Thank you, Paul.  I appreciate your being

         20  here, as always.

         21                 Dan.  Dan has recently moved over to

         22  the New York League of Conservation Voters.  I've

         23  known Dan for a number of years, and it's a great

         24  organization.  They got a great guy in you, and we

         25  welcome you and your baptism before the Committee
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          2  here. This is your first time here.  So we

          3  appreciate your being here and appreciate the League

          4  sending you here.  So Dan, please state your name

          5  for the record and proceed with your testimony.

          6                 MR. HENDRICK: My name is Dan

          7  Hendrick.  I'm Communications Director with the New

          8  York League of Conservation Voters, and I may be new

          9  on this side of the microphone, but certainly not

         10  new to Jamaica Bay having worked  --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Absolutely.

         12                 MR. HENDRICK: I know a thing or two

         13  about that, but I did write a book on Jamaica Bay

         14  which came out last year.  I've covered extensively

         15  for Newsday, for the Queens Chronicle and many other

         16  publications.

         17                 I'm going to kind of cut my testimony

         18  in half in the interest of time.

         19                 You know the thing about the report

         20  that just came out that Advisory Committee and the

         21  Park system did is certainly eye opening, and we're

         22  hoping that DEP is going to be paying close

         23  attention to that.  It's kind of frightening when

         24  you look at the numbers.  It's so important as we go

         25  forward at this point not to feel disempowered that
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          2  we really can't do anything at this point. As a

          3  matter of fact, as Genie points out, right now it's

          4  sort of down to money and leadership.  So that's

          5  where I'm here to talk a little bit about that.

          6                 You know we need to look at funding

          7  from all kinds of different sources, the City, the

          8  State and the Federal government, for example.  The

          9  Corps did great work, or is doing great work, at

         10  Elders Point, and we had that great success at Big

         11  Egg Marsh.  Even with the proposed restorations that

         12  the Corps is thinking about now, we're afraid it

         13  might be too little too late, and there's a lot of

         14  things  --  Well we also know that restored marshes

         15  don't have the same properties as natural ones.  So

         16  it would be a shame to lose those.

         17                 The New York League of Conservation

         18  Voters is urging the Council, and the City as a

         19  whole, to broaden their work, to find new sources of

         20  funding.  For example, the State's Environmental

         21  Protection Fund is written  --  The law is written

         22  is such a way that it prohibits using funding for

         23  this type of projects.  There has been legislation

         24  proposed that would open that channel of funding,

         25  for example, and we back that.
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          2                 It's a shame that DEP left promptly

          3  after their testimony, but  --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I just want to

          5  point out that they have Rick Muller (phonetic) here

          6  who does their  --

          7                 MR. HENDRICK: Oh, I'm sorry.  I

          8  didn't see you there, a new face to me.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: It's a lot of

         10  mental stuff for him.

         11                 MR. HENDRICK: Please do take this

         12  back.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes, well Rick

         14  has worn a couple of hats over the years, but he's

         15  very ably wearing the DEP hat, and we're grateful

         16  that he's here for the duration.

         17                 MR. HENDRICK: Wonderful.  Okay.  Well

         18  please share this with your colleagues.

         19                 Obviously next month as the

         20  Department is getting ready to issue its final

         21  report on the steps that need to be taken at Jamaica

         22  Bay, we know from past conversations with the DEP

         23  that really funding is their primary concern.  There

         24  is consensus that we want to do all these things,

         25  but the question is whether or not we'll have the
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          2  money to do it.  So the recent news that the salt

          3  marshes are disappearing even faster than we had

          4  thought only strengthens the need for the final

          5  report to not merely articulate the goals for which

          6  DEP is certain it can have the funding for, but to

          7  give us rather a full picture, a full inventory of

          8  all the problems and the solutions.  Then after we

          9  have everything on the table, we can kind of proceed

         10  at that point with a realistic complete picture and

         11  then lay out a game plan for all the funding

         12  strategies that we can look at.  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         14  Thank you, Dan.  I appreciate you being here.  I

         15  should have mentioned when you were being introduced

         16  that you have a great body of work with regard to

         17  Jamaica Bay, and it's great that the League

         18  Conservation Voters has all of your expertise at its

         19  disposal now.  So I know you'll do well with the

         20  League and that we have a great relationship, you

         21  know the League and this Council.  So thanks for

         22  being here, and I appreciate your being here.

         23                 Genie and Paul, as always, we

         24  appreciate your input and you always give us food

         25  for thought.  We're grateful that you're here today,

                                                            112

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  and you're on the team and part of the fight. We

          3  need something good to come out of this report on

          4  October 1st, and if it's not, I know you'll be out

          5  there with us.

          6                 I thank this panel, but I want to

          7  thank everyone else for being here and participating

          8  in this hearing and everyone who is watching on t.v.

          9  Who loves Jamaica Bay, go there, participate in it,

         10  see what it's all about.  You see on the map. You

         11  have to go there and experience for yourself, and

         12  we'll get more people to enjoy the natural splendor

         13  of Jamaica Bay and that will make it all the more

         14  easy for policymakers to prioritize it to where it

         15  ought to be.

         16                 So with that being said, and with no

         17  one else wishing to be heard, this hearing is

         18  adjourned.

         19                 (Hearing concluded at 3:47 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, LORI KLEIN, do hereby certify that

         10  the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of

         11  the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 6th day of September 2007.
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          9            I, LORI KLEIN, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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